

Untold problems

A review of the essential issues in the mental health of men and boys

David Wilkins *Men's Health Forum*

Commissioned by



Published by



Untold problems

A review of the essential issues in the mental health of men and boys

David Wilkins

Men's Health Forum

Acknowledgements

The following people reviewed the draft version of this document. I am extremely grateful for their insights and their help with finding additional sources of information:

Peter Baker

Chief Executive, Men's Health Forum

Shaun Byatt

Services Manager, Dorset Mental Health Forum

Sue Forber

Development Worker, Service User Representatives' Project

Dorset Mental Health Forum

Cathy Freese

National Perinatal Mental Health Project Lead

National Mental Health Development Unit

Mariam Kemple

Policy and Campaigns Officer, Mind

Merrick Marshall

Service User Representative, Dorset Mental Health Forum

Dr Steve Robertson

Reader in Men's Health, Centre for Men's Health

Leeds Metropolitan University

Sue Waterhouse

National Programme Lead, Gender Equality in Mental Health

National Mental Health Development Unit

Prof. Alan White

Professor of Men's Health, Centre for Men's Health

Leeds Metropolitan University

Contents

Acknowledgements	4
Executive Summary	6
Preface by Sue Waterhouse	10
Foreword by Phillip Hodson	11
Definition of a "male health issue"	12
Introduction	13
Context for the review	15
1. The "male role" in family and society	18
Socialisation and gender roles	18
Fathers; and fathers and sons	
The benefits of family life for men	
Boys and school	
Men and work	
Community engagement and supportive relationships	
2. Men's mental health and anti-social behaviour	27
Male violence	27
Mental health and male prisoners	28
Alcohol misuse in men	29
Drug misuse in men	30
3. Specific groups and conditions	32
Suicide in men	32
The possibility of under-diagnosis of depression in men	33
The mental health of men from BME communities	34
The mental health of gay men	35
PTSD and the mental health of ex-servicemen	36
Specific forms of mental ill health	37
Discussion	39
Conclusions	40
References	42

Executive Summary

Introduction

This review is about the mental health of men and boys. It considers mental health from a male perspective and explores how good mental health can be achieved and maintained. It also looks the kinds of mental health problems that men and boys experience and asks how services can most effectively respond. To our knowledge this is the first time that the relevant evidence has been brought together and considered in this way.

It is well known that men generally have poorer physical health than women, although the reasons why that should be so are not fully understood. It is however increasingly accepted that services need to change and adapt if men's physical health is to be improved. Mental health appears at first sight to be a different matter. Women are diagnosed with the most common mental health problems significantly more often than men. The wider indicators of poorer mental health suggest however, that the situation is more complex than it seems. Suicide, substance misuse, anti-social behaviour, "disappearing" from home, homelessness and a variety of behavioural problems are all markedly more common in males. Men are also more likely to exhibit personality disorders. It seems probable therefore that we may not be identifying and tackling mental health problems in men and boys as well as we might. This review uses three main headings to identify the most important issues and to organise the evidence:

- The "male role" in family and society
- Men's mental health and anti-social behaviour
- Specific groups and conditions

The "male role" in family and society

There is no absolute consensus on the explanations for the cultural and societal differences in gender roles. Some scientists across a variety of disciplines believe that these differences are predominantly reflective of biological differences between the sexes that are rooted in evolutionary processes. Others believe that the most important explanations lie in unchallenged cultural norms, upbringing ("socialisation") and/or vested political interests in maintaining the status quo. In practice, most accept that all these factors are at play. The debate tends to be about the balance between them.

If we look at the evidence, it is clear that the "male role", often asserted to be one primarily of advantage, can be a double-edged sword. Men continue to earn more than women for example, and are more likely to occupy senior positions in the workplace. Work confers social status and where it is satisfying and manageable, work is an important factor in good mental health. This is perhaps especially the case for men. Where work is unsatisfying, unreliable, physically unpleasant and/or unreasonably demanding of time however, it is can cause significant mental distress. This is a particular issue for men who are twice as likely to work full time, much more likely to work long hours and, in two-parent families, more likely to have the "breadwinner" role. A consistently unhappy work experience can also have negative consequences for men's families and hence for the prospects of good mental health for future generations. The centrality of work in the lives of many men means that the loss of cultural certainty associated with unemployment can be more damaging for men than women.

In recent decades boys have tended to do less well at school than girls – a reversal of the position earlier in the last century. The consequence is that there are now fewer young men than young women in further education. Some particular population groups, most notably white and Afro-Caribbean boys from poorer families, are doing particularly badly. Boys are also very significantly more likely to be identified as having either a special educational need (SEN) or a behavioural, emotional or social difficulty (BESD). 80% of pupils permanently excluded from school and 75% of those on fixed term exclusions are male.

By a variety of measures, men also appear to have a narrower range of active social and family relationships than women – and those relationships that they do have are, in general, less intimate. This has obvious consequences for the availability of emotional support and encouragement to seek help. Fatherhood, which can crucial for the mental health of children – especially boys – is acknowledged to be poorly supported by many agencies, and is often undervalued.

Men's mental health and anti-social behaviour

All forms of physical violence are greatly more common in men. Knife crime, which has been the subject of significant public and political concern in recent years is predominantly a male behaviour. Men and boys are also more likely to commit most types of non-violent crime and to indulge in low-level anti-social behaviour. With the exceptions of sexual violence and domestic violence, most victims of violence are male.

A greater likelihood of violent behaviour in men is associated with a number of social factors, including being from a lower socio-economic group and being single, separated or divorced. The propensity for violence in adulthood has also been connected in numerous studies with a dysfunctional upbringing and adverse childhood experiences – factors which are often also predisposing factors for poorer mental health.

Violent behaviour is not strongly associated with diagnosed mental illness per se but it is associated with personality disorders, and drug and alcohol misuse, which are both more common in men. Male alcohol problems in particular, may be under-considered. It is believed that up to 800,000 men may be alcohol dependent. Boys in their mid teens are almost twice as likely to drink as girls, with both sexes drinking twice as much as they were twenty years ago. In the minds of some men, drinking alcohol in quantity functions as a marker of masculine status.

94% of adults in prison are male. Prisoners have a much higher incidence of mental health problems than the population as a whole and are at a significantly increased risk of death by suicide. There is consensus that the criminal justice system is not equipped to deal as well as it could with men who have mental health problems. Despite the great majority of prisoners being male, it seems probable that the relationship between masculinity, crime and mental health has not been fully taken into account in the planning of services for prisoners.

Specific groups and conditions

The higher rate of suicide in men – particularly young men – has been the most widely acknowledged of those mental health issues that have a particularly male aspect (indeed, it is arguably the only such issue that has been regarded in this way by policy-makers). There are promising indications that the suicide rate is falling as a result, although there is still some way to go. There are obvious links between suicide and depression and a

number of authorities have suggested that depression may be under-diagnosed in men. This is partly because men may not present themselves for advice or treatment but also because the symptomatology for depression may differ between men and women. It is suggested that the conventional diagnostic approach is more likely to identify depression in women than in men.

Admissions to psychiatric hospitals are more common in men from some black and minority ethnic (BME) groups. In the case of some particular population groups the admission rates are higher to a very significant degree – for example black men are up to three times more likely than the population average to be treated as in-patients. Black men are also very much more likely to be the subject of compulsory admission and to have been referred to mental health services via the criminal justice system.

Research suggests that gay men have higher rates of common mental disorders than the population as a whole, and are at greater risk of both attempted and completed suicide. Public attitudes are an important influencing factor in the mental health of gay men but interestingly, are also relevant for the mental health of heterosexual men. The expression of emotional vulnerability is often caricatured as being "gay" – which may be one of the factors that limit the capacity of some men to admit emotional distress and to seek help.

Post traumatic stress disorder in services and ex-services personnel has been of some public interest in recent years. For obvious reasons, this may be a particularly male issue and some of those affected have suggested publicly that support services are inadequate. For different reasons, it may also be that men receive inadequate treatment for chronic mental health problems arising from having been a victim of childhood sexual abuse. Men may be less willing to seek help for these conditions and it may be that public – and sometimes professional – perceptions of sexual abuse tend towards an assumption that the problem is one that only affects women. Services for eating disorders, which are increasingly common in young men, may suffer from the same kinds of problem.

Discussion and conclusions

The review demonstrates that men often have mental health needs that are distinct from those of women and which are particularly associated with the lived experience of being male. Some of these needs are not being met as effectively as they might. This situation is compounded by the fact that in some circumstances some of the familiar cultural markers of masculinity are also potential symptoms of, or predisposing factors for, poor mental health. Many of these behaviours are so familiar that they seem indisputably "normal" even though it is easy to see that they are sometimes simultaneously damaging.

This poses significant problems. First, it is very difficult to separate out those men who may be struggling to cope from those who are not. Second – and this is the lesson from other areas of health – the expertise to plan and deliver services that men are willing to use may be lacking. Finally, it will be immensely challenging to engage men in a dialogue that encourages them to ask themselves whether they should be seeking help.

The review does not set out to make recommendations but it does identify a series of ideas and principles that should be taken into account when future actions are planned. These ideas

and principles are summarised below:

- A cross-cutting approach is crucial. Improving and maintaining the mental health of men is not just a function of mental health services.
- Simply being male could and should be seen as a primary risk factor for several specific mental health problems.
- Depression may be under-diagnosed in men.
- Many men who need help may not say so, and some may come to notice in ways that do not encourage a sympathetic response.
- It is important to find ways of improving boys' educational performance because poor educational outcomes militate against good mental health
- It is important to support and encourage fathers, especially those in the most adverse circumstances.
- Male-specific helpline services may have something to offer.
- Early intervention should be part of the solution. Encouraging boys to become more sensitive to their own emotional needs and the emotional needs of those around them will not solve all the problems but it has the potential to help considerably.
- Boys and men need to be allowed to explore a less narrow version of masculinity. This is not a magic wand but it has the potential to help.
- Poor working practices contribute to poor mental health.
- Many men in prison have had adverse childhood experiences and are suffering from psychological problems. Public safety must remain paramount but there is a strong case for more thoughtful assessment and treatment of some prisoners.
- Several specific forms psychological distress have particular importance for men and need to be considered from a male perspective.

Preface

Reviews of mental health services and feedback from service users have indicated that mental health services do not always equitably meet the needs of women (DH, 2002). Evidence is becoming clearer that gender based inequalities also exist for men in certain aspects of service experience and outcomes.

The learning gained through better understanding of the mental health needs of women has proved extremely useful in improving the effectiveness of services. The policy and guidance documents on mainstreaming service responses to women's mental health have influenced the planning and development of service provision for women. The improvements that resulted were clearly necessary but in many cases the same attention to specific needs was not given to the provision of services for men. For example, women-only acute wards, in many cases, have been carefully planned and developed without sufficient consideration of the consequence, i.e. that men-only acute wards have emerged without planning.

The review that is reported in this document was commissioned from the Men's Health Forum by the National Mental Health Development Unit (NMHDU) in order to identify and better understand the mental health needs of men. It brings together most relevant evidence and explores the most important issues within the context of what is already known about male attitudes, behaviour and sensibilities.

This work will be used to inform the development of policy and practice so that service providers can respond more effectively to the needs of both male and female service users. In particular, this review will help the NMHDU Equalities Programme plan future work. This review has also been submitted to the New Horizons in Mental Health consultation on the future of mental health services in England.

Sue Waterhouse

National Deputy Programme Lead Mental Health Equalities Programme National Mental Health Development Unit

Foreword

This document doesn't make wild generalisations about "all men". It doesn't bleat about the need for equality and diversity beyond what is fair and just. Nor does it attempt to turn boys into girls. Rather, this is a report that proceeds by reason and evidence to argue that men as a sex face specific emotional and mental difficulties that society commonly misunderstands.

The facts are stark. Being male increases your chances of drug and alcohol dependency, school failure, suicide and involvement in crime. Almost three quarters of people who kill themselves are men. Most adults who go missing are men. Most prisoners are men. Most men in prison suffer from at least one mental disorder. Most of the people detained in secure mental institutions are men. Three quarters of rough sleepers are men. Men are responsible for 87% of crimes of violence. Nearly all children permanently excluded from school are male. And boys are performing less well than girls at almost every single level of education.

Some of these problems result from what I described in my 1984 BBC book, *Men, an investigation into the emotional male*, as the "fall of the male chauvinist empire". It has indeed been difficult for 21st century men to adapt to a world where their natural anxieties are no longer masked by the universal subservience of women. Nor have they adjusted well to an economy that ignores brute strength in favour of brains and the utility of emotional intelligence.

As the report concludes, we must urgently look beyond masculine stereotypes to understand the mental health needs of contemporary males. To take just one example, consider the notion of 'depression and self-harm'. Such an image probably conjures up the picture of a teenage girl cutting her arms or suffering from an eating disorder. But if I reflect on 'self-harm' in a different context, I can soon call to mind male public figures who have wound up in prison, lost jobs due to drink problems or forfeited the public's respect as a consequence of risky sexual behaviour. In my opinion these kinds of behaviours often qualify as explicitly 'self-harming' activity.

Most of these formerly respected figures might deny they'd had a mental health problem. All of them have been able to function – with some help – in their respective roles. Yet all have come to grief for reasons which we might conclude are depressive if not depressing. The plausible bottom line is that whereas women tend to confess to feelings of depression, and hence are labelled the "more depressed sex", men routinely deny their problems so you can mainly detect men's symptoms from their self-harming acts, not their testimony.

I believe that the balance of the national depression statistics would be very much altered if we took note of men's greater problems with alcohol, drug dependency, overstress, workaholism and road rage. Otherwise, it surely remains difficult to explain why men are half as likely as women to be diagnosed with depression yet three times more likely to kill themselves because of it.

Phillip Hodson

Phillip Hodson FRSA Chief Spokesperson, British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy

Phillip Hodson is a Fellow of the British Association for Counselling and Psychotherapy [www.bacp.co.uk] and for ten years has been its Chief Spokesperson. He has worked as a psychotherapist and sex and relationship therapist for nearly 30 years specialising in the problems of men and couples. He introduced radio counselling to Britain on LBC radio who then asked him to work seven days a week. He declined. His original book on the problems of men and emotions was almost the first to appear on the subject - and consequently had to be placed in the "Women's" section in Waterstone's.

Definition of a male health issue

The following definition was used to identify the aspects of male mental health addressed in this review.

A male health issue is one that fulfils either of the following conditions:

It arises from physiological, psychological, social, cultural or environmental factors that have a specific impact on boys or men.

It necessitates male-specific actions to achieve improvements in health or well-being at either individual or population level.¹

Introduction

This paper is about the mental health of men and boys. It considers good mental health from a male point of view and explores how that can be achieved and maintained. It also looks the kinds of mental health problems that men and boys experience and asks how services can most effectively respond. It brings together a wide range of the most helpful evidence and concentrates in particular on the relevance of cultural perceptions of masculinity.

The evidence in relation to male mental health has never been reviewed in this way before. Where there has been work that considers the particular needs of men, it has tended to be in relation to physical health. A good starting point therefore is to look very briefly at what can been learned from that evidence base.

On average, men live five years fewer than women. Men are also proportionately more likely at all ages to suffer from almost all the major forms of disease and injury. Most authorities agree that biological differences between men and women account only partially for these gender gaps in health outcome. The most plausible explanation lies in a combination of men's unhealthier lifestyles and their less effective use of health services. Men smoke and drink more than women for example, they also eat a less healthy diet and take more physical risks. Men are less likely to be influenced by health improvement campaigns than women, are known to make less effective use of many health services, and may be more likely to delay seeking help until later in the development of symptoms.

Trying to redress imbalances in health outcome between men and women is undeniably challenging. Clearly it cannot just be assumed all men behave in one way and all women in another. It would be absurd to take such a simplistic view. At the same time (as has long been understood in the commercial world) there are broad but clearly observable differences between men and women in the way they engage with the world. There is increasing recognition that the effectiveness of health services could be improved if greater account was taken of these differences.

There have been some promising developments in relation to male health need in very recent years. Historically however, "gender sensitive services" (to use a shorthand term) have largely been developed to take account of the particular needs of women. This has probably been because the experience in other fields of public provision has been that it is women who have more usually been at a disadvantage. There have also been effective grass roots campaigns by women's organisations calling for better services. This has particularly been the case in relation to maternity services and the female-specific cancers. It has also been so in relation to some aspects of mental health – indeed, it was mental health services that were the subject of the UK's first national gender-specific health policy guidance, *Mainstreaming Gender and Women's Mental Health*, published in 2003.²

It is not surprising that it was in the field of mental health that this first policy guidance appeared. The relevance of gender to mental health is crystal clear. Our gender is perhaps the most basic characteristic of our sense of self. It also governs many of society's expectations of us, colours the way we are seen by other people, and helps determine the range of behaviours that are perceived as "normal". Our gender is furthermore a significant factor in many of our formative experiences and a defining element in most of our most important relationships.

For many men, as we shall see, there are often significant tensions between conventional masculine behaviour and the idea of nurturing good mental health. Admitting the need for support with emotional and psychological problems may be a particular challenge for some and may account for some of the more destructive behaviours seen more commonly in men which we will explore in due course.

We will argue that there is a good case for developing services that take account of men's needs "as men". That it is right to do this was noted in the introduction to *Mainstreaming Gender and Women's Mental Health*:

The underlying theme is that gender differences in women **and men** need to be equally recognised and addressed across policy development, research, planning, commissioning, service organisation and delivery. [present author's emphasis]

This review aims to provide the information base for achieving this objective. The following section explains why this is important, outlines the background to the review and describes the context in which the information in presented.

Context for the review

Although generalised ideas of psychotic illness such as schizophrenia and bipolar disorder are known to be an important influence on public perceptions of mental ill health, psychotic illness is in fact, relatively uncommon. Prevalence is believed to be around 0.4% in the population as a whole and is roughly equally distributed between men and women³ (although the onset of some particular forms of psychosis seems to occur earlier in the lifespan in men).^{4,5}

It is the group of conditions collectively known as the "common mental disorders" that comprise the great bulk of disabling mental ill health in the community. Common mental disorders are mostly made up of the various types of depression and anxiety but also include phobia, obsessive compulsive disorder and panic disorder. These conditions affect very large numbers of people and – in a reversal of the pattern seen typically in physical ill health – are more commonly diagnosed in women. The most recent figures suggest that, at any one time, one in five women (19.7%) compared to one in eight men (12.5%)⁶ is diagnosed with a common mental disorder.

The key word here is "diagnosed". Diagnosis requires that the disorder has been seen and recorded by a health professional. As we shall see, it seems at least possible that mental health problems in men are, for a variety of reasons, less likely to come to the attention of those agencies where an appropriate diagnosis could be made.

The rest of this review does not routinely compare men with women but it is useful to consider the two sexes together at the outset in order set the scene. As we have just seen, the data suggest that common mental disorders are a more pressing issue for women. Certainly there is no dispute that the development of specific policy guidance for women's mental health is entirely justified. At the same time, common mental disorders are undoubtedly a significant problem for men too. One man in eight is roughly the same, for example, as the proportion of men diagnosed with cardiovascular disease, a major cause of premature death in men. An examination of the bigger picture suggests furthermore, that matters in relation to men are rather more complicated than they seem at first sight. For example:

- Almost three quarters of people who kill themselves are men.8
- 73% of adults who "go missing" are men.
- 90% of rough sleepers are men.¹⁰
- Men are three times more likely than women to become alcohol dependent (6% of men are alcohol dependent compared to 2% of women).¹¹
- Men are more than twice as likely to use Class A drugs (4.8% compared to 2% of women)¹² and 79% of drug-related deaths occur in men.¹³
- Men make up 94% of the prison population.¹⁴ 72% of male prisoners suffer from two or more mental disorders.¹⁵
- More than twice as many male psychiatric inpatients are detained and treated compulsorily.¹⁶

- Men have measurably lower access to the social support of friends, relatives and community.^{17, 18}
- Men commit 87% of violent crime (and are twice as likely to be victims of violent crime).¹⁹
- Over 80% of children permanently excluded from school are boys.²⁰
- Boys are performing less well than girls at all levels of education. For example in 2008 only 60.9 per cent of boys achieved 5 or more grade A*-C GCSEs compared to 69.9 per cent of girls.²¹

These statistics suggest that male emotional and psychological distress may sometimes emerge in ways that do not fit comfortably within conventional approaches to diagnosis. It can also be seen that men may be more likely to lack some of the known precursors of good mental health, such as a positive engagement with education or the emotional support of friends and family. A sketchy picture begins to emerge of a potentially sizeable group of men who cope less well than they might. These men may fail to recognise or act on warning signs, and may be unable or unwilling to seek help from support services. At the further end of the spectrum they may rely on unwise, unsustainable self-management strategies that are damaging not only to themselves but also to those around them. Such a picture would broadly parallel what is already known about men's poorer physical health.

It should also be added at this point, that men are believed to be more likely to suffer from personality disorders (5.4% of men compared to 3.4% of women).²² Personality disorders are personality characteristics which "cause regular and long term problems in the way [people] cope with life, interact with other people and the way in which they can respond emotionally." People with personality disorders are more likely than the general population to come into contact with mental health services²⁴ and are known to be at increased risk of substance misuse, anti-social behaviour and suicide. At the same time, it is believed that many people with personality disorders will never seek or need treatment. Although personality disorders are not generally considered a form of mental illness in themselves, they can be highly disabling.

There is a good case then, to consider the inter-relationship between men, masculinity and mental health, particularly within the context of men's social functioning. This does not mean this review will be attempting to pathologise a group of common behaviours that may or may not form part of a "typical male spectrum". We simply propose that there are potentially some significant benefits in bringing the evidence together in one place and looking at it with an open mind. It seems likely that if men's needs were better understood, then services could be developed that would be more effective and better value for investment.

If we turn briefly again to the field of men's physical health we can see precedents for doing this. Two national policy documents in recent years, the *Cancer Reform Strategy*²⁷ and *Choosing health through pharmacy*²⁸ have noted the need to take account of men's poorer use of services and the connection with poorer outcomes. The benefits of concerted action can however most clearly be seen in the National Chlamydia Screening Programme (NCSP). Although chlamydia is known to be equally prevalent in both men and women, uptake of screening by men was very low in the early years of the programme. The NCSP has developed a strategy²⁹ for engaging men in the programme and is soon to publish a detailed action plan.³⁰ The consequence has been an increase in male participation in initial screening from only 17% in 2004 – 2005 to 28% in 2007 – 2008.

As we have seen, the field of mental health led the way in the UK in acknowledging the importance of gender as a determinant of health status, with the publication of *Mainstreaming Gender and Women's Mental Health*. Unfortunately, that pioneering document has not led to a routine consideration of gender issues in policy development and service planning – with consideration of male issues particularly lacking. It is probably true to say for example, that current national mental health programmes such as *Improving Access to Psychological Therapies*³¹ and the anti-stigma campaign *Time To Change*³² have not, so far, considered gender issues in any detail. This review is therefore addressing a genuine need for information.

There is now also a legislative imperative in the UK for developing an evidence base that can inform future planning. The Gender Equality Duty, a provision of the Equality Act 2006 requires public service providers to eliminate unlawful sexual discrimination and promote equality of opportunity between the sexes.³³ This means that service providers must actively seek to understand whether and why gender inequalities exist, and must provide services that take account of the different needs of men and women.

The primary function of this review then, is to identify and explore the most important issues in male mental health in order to help develop more effective provision. We have done this by collecting relevant evidence from a wide variety of sources and by asking what that evidence tells us about the particular needs of men and boys. We also explore what has been learned from those few instances where male-specific programmes have been implemented. Limitations of space have meant that we have had to generalise in places but we have tried throughout to recognise the obvious – that "men" are not a homogenous mass but are a diverse group whose identity is also a function of (among other things) their social class, their race, their sexuality and their life experiences.

Limited resources also mean that the review cannot claim to be exhaustive. We have however aimed to make sure that the scope is wide even where the detail has necessarily been constrained. We are confident of having identified most of the most important issues. We hope particularly to have done enough to encourage professional and public debate on this issue, which surely has been in the shadows for too long. Ultimately the question needs to be asked whether there is a need for a national men's mental health strategy and we attempt to move towards a conclusion on that point.

1. The "male role" in family and society

Socialisation and gender roles

It is of course, possible to argue that there is – or should be – no such thing as a male or female role. Nevertheless, and although there might be debate about what defines "a man" or "a woman" in any particular culture, there is no doubt that virtually all cultures do have broadly different expectations of the sexes. These expectations change and shift over time, and vary from individual to individual but it is not possible to explore the relationship between gender and mental health without acknowledging that such expectations exist.

It is often said that "traditional" gender roles are created by socialisation. This explanation holds that families, peer groups, and many public and commercial institutions treat male and female children differently, with the result that boys and girls develop different attitudes and behaviours. This is said to perpetuate particular social constructions of masculinity and feminity, which remain locked into our culture.

Ideas of socialisation are a particularly important factor in relation to the debate about men's mental health because of the widely held perception that some of the damaging tendencies seen more commonly in men have their roots in the way boys are raised. These tendencies include a relative lack of emotional expressiveness, the propensity to "act out" emotional distress, and a reduced willingness to admit vulnerability and seek help. All of these propositions are examined in more detail later in this review.

Academic opinion about socialisation is equivocal. It suggests that while socialisation is unquestionably a real and influential phenomenon in emotional development, gender differences in mental health depend on a combination of factors that also include biology, personality type and the prevailing culture. Mental health is also known to be influenced by social context – that is to say, it may depend both on the circumstances in which people find themselves at the time and the life experiences that they have had. This social context may vary between men and women.

Biological factors are considered by some to be particularly important. Many neuroscientists believe the evidence points to basic structural differences between the male and female brain, acting in conjunction with hormonal differences between men and women. It is suggested that these physical differences make it likely that men and women will tend to group around different psychological attributes (albeit along a broad spectrum that covers both sexes). The resulting behavioural differences are said to be observable from the very first days of life. Baron-Cohen, for example, argues that the difference lies in the "empathising" nature of the female brain and the "systematising" characteristics of the male brain.³⁷

Both socio-biology (the study of the biological and genetic basis for social behaviour in animals and humans) and evolutionary psychology (the study of the psychological adaptations of humans to the changing physical and social environment) argue that these kinds of differences are rooted in processes of adaptation and natural selection.³⁷ In very simplest terms, these disciplines suggest that men and women have developed different behaviour patterns because the behaviours that conferred evolutionary advantage differed between the sexes.

These biological theories of gender difference suggest that men and women may be predisposed to experience different forms of emotional distress and to exhibit different coping strategies. Even so, these theories also allow that life experiences are an important mediator of men's and women's tendencies to act in one way or the other. As Kilmartin, among others, has pointed out, "It has become scientifically indefensible to claim that either biological or social forces are solely responsible for gender behaviour." 39

On the whole then, the evidence does not support the assumption that socialisation alone is responsible for creating behaviours that might be seen to be crucial to a discussion of men's mental health. At the same time – as we have just seen – biological theories do encompass the idea that the way boys are raised is likely to contribute to the way they experience and cope with emotional distress as adults. It is probably beyond dispute that boys in our culture are often encouraged both to minimise the expression of hurt ("big boys don't cry") and allowed greater leeway in the expression of externalised emotions like physical aggression and anger. These two aspects of male behaviour in particular do recur in different guises in different contexts throughout this review.

Fathers; and fathers and sons

A very important issue in considering what kinds of upbringing are more conducive to good mental health in men and boys, is the role of fathers – particularly in relation to the upbringing of sons. Families often report that a father's involvement is particularly important for the well-being of boys but in practice little of the evidence in relation to fatherhood looks at the effect on sons and daughters separately.⁴¹

It is however possible tentatively to extrapolate the potential benefits for boys of a loving and engaged father. Adolescents who have a strong paternal bond are less likely to become involved in petty crime for example. ⁴² This may be particularly important for sons since most juvenile offenders are male (see section on anti-social behaviour below). Likewise, children who have supportive fathers are more likely to do well in school. ⁴³ This may again be particularly important for sons since boys tend generally do less well in school than girls (see section on boys and school below).

According to research in the USA, in families where fathers have greater involvement with their children, those children tend to display less gender-stereotypical behaviour. ⁴⁴ As we have seen, greater flexibility in the range of allowable behaviours may have particular benefits for boys. An important survey by the Samaritans in 1999 found that young men who lived apart from their fathers were more likely to show suicidal tendencies in adolescence. Similarly, young men who had symptoms of depression were more likely to report that their fathers did not show an interest in their schoolwork and were less likely to try and talk to them about their worries. ⁴⁵

Depression, anxiety and alcoholism in fathers are all associated with an increased risk of behavioural and emotional disorders in their children, particularly during adolescence. There is some evidence that mental ill health in fathers – especially alcoholism – contributes particularly to behavioural disorders in sons. ⁴⁶ This greater effect of paternal mental illness on sons adds theoretical weight to the idea that fathers are of particular importance in the development of good mental health for boys.

Fathers do not always live with their children of course. One child in four is brought up in a lone parent household, and nine out of ten of such households are headed by the mother.⁴⁷

The break up of the family does not of itself, necessarily prevent fathers from playing a positive and supportive role. Many separated fathers maintain a strong commitment to the welfare of their children and where that happens, the children tend to be more settled and better adjusted. In light of the benefits for mental well-being of boys however, it is potentially a cause for concern that the Millennium Cohort Study suggests as many as four in ten children being brought up by their mothers have no contact at all with their fathers.

In their recent report calling for greater resources for early intervention, Graham Allen MP and Iain Duncan-Smith MP highlight the evidence for the "strength of the correlations between family breakdown and crime, educational failure, economic dependency, debt and addiction and the systemic nature of these social problems where cause and effect interact." Whilst acknowledging that "it is not totally guaranteed, and protective factors might arise to alter it" they also point out that children who will grow up to be dysfunctional adults can often be identified while they are still toddlers. They go on to suggest that an absence of father involvement is an important contributing factor to these cycles of social problems. ⁵⁰

One important proviso that should be inserted here however is that research suggests that where a father exhibits anti-social behaviour, his presence may result in worse behavioural outcomes for his children than his absence.⁵¹

There is evidence that one under-recognised form of depression in fathers – post-natal depression – also has a damaging effect on sons. A large scale study of fathers who suffered depression in the post-natal period found a clear association with adverse emotional outcomes in children of both sexes at age three and a half, and a "striking" association with behavioural problems specifically in sons (an outcome that has not been consistently observed in studies of postnatal depression in mothers). Post-natal depression in men may in fact be an issue to which not enough attention has been paid. A review in 2003 found few studies and consequently arrived at a very wide variation in reported rates (1% – 26% of all new fathers). Ramchandani in the study cited earlier found an incidence rate of 4% for depression in new fathers, compared to 10% for new mothers.

The proportionate difference in the figures explains why more attention has been paid to post-natal depression in mothers but does not justify an absence of support for men – especially, as we have seen, given the relationship between the mental health of the father and the mental health of his children. It could be argued indeed, that the needs of fathers are inadequately recognised in peri- and post-natal services altogether, and that this constrains service provision for men from the outset. There is good evidence that supporting fathers to take an active role during this period in particular has a range of short and long term psychological benefits for the new baby, the mother and the father himself.⁵⁵

The benefits of family life for men

As loving fathers are a benefit to children, so loving families are a benefit to men Evidence from many countries has demonstrated strongly and consistently that a stable, long term relationship is among the most important predisposing factors for good mental health for both men and women, but of more marked benefit for men. ⁵⁶ This effect applies to marriage more so than cohabitation but both states significantly out-perform the various alternatives. ⁵⁷

As one might expect, the converse of this is also true – divorce and separation are common causes of unhappiness and emotional distress. This latter is believed to be somewhat more true for women than men – although a massive unmet need for emotional support for men who have experienced the break up of a family relationship has been demonstrated by

MensLine Australia. This nationwide service – the first of its kind in the world – uses a specifically "male-centred" approach. Its success – it takes over 60,000 calls each year – has suggested that at least some men will seek help during crisis periods, provided that the help is delivered in a way that meets their needs. Data from MensLine callers also bears out the connections between relationship breakdown and poorer mental health; men who are separated from their children are twice as likely as fathers who live with their children to report a serious mental health concern and five times more likely to have attempted suicide.

Boys and school

We have already seen that boys do less well than girls in school. In 1988 girls overtook boys in passes at GCSE level and gradually in the late 1990s overtook boys in "A" level passes (although boys are still doing relatively well at "A" level in science and maths). Historically, young men had been more likely than young women to go on to higher education (HE) but by 1992, the numbers had equalised. Currently around 32% of young women are in HE at age 19 compared to 25% of young men (figures for those educated at state schools).⁶¹

These differences between boys and girls undoubtedly represent progress for girls and women that is very much to be welcomed, especially in the context of the long-standing historical imbalance in favour of boys' education. Ironically in the present context however, the fact that girls now outperform boys in school has been officially cited as representing progress towards "equality between the sexes". 62

The specific groups currently doing least well are young white men from poor backgrounds (30% below average attainment at GCSE) and young black men of Caribbean origin from poor backgrounds (33% below). ⁶³ Not surprisingly, these two groups are also the least likely to be represented in HE. In the case of black Caribbean boys, low achievement in school exceeds that which could be accounted for by the economic deprivation experienced by those pupils (measured by eligibility for free school meals). ⁶⁴

Boys make up 70% of those identified as having a special educational need (SEN) with 12% of boys overall falling into this category (compared to 5% of girls). Of pupils with an SEN, boys are 9 times more likely to be diagnosed as having autistic spectrum disorder, 2.7 times more likely to have a specific learning difficulty and 2.5 times more likely to have a speech, language or communication problem. Boys are also 4 times more likely to be diagnosed as having a behavioural, emotional or social difficulty (BESD). Boys from black Caribbean and other black backgrounds in particular are more likely to have a BESD.⁶⁵

Boys are also 3 times more likely to be diagnosed with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) and between 6 and 9 times more likely to be referred to child mental health clinics with the condition (probably because they are more likely to present with aggression which is difficult to manage in school). The report of the Government Office for Science's Foresight Report into the future mental well-being of the British population noted that diagnosed mental disorder in school age children (ages 5 – 15) is markedly more common in boys (11.4% of boys against 7.5% of girls). The report of the Government Office for Science's Foresight Report into the future mental well-being of the British population noted that diagnosed mental disorder in school age children (ages 5 – 15) is markedly more common in boys (11.4% of boys against 7.5% of girls).

As we saw in the introduction, over 80% of excluded pupils are boys, as are 75% of those on fixed period exclusion. The most common reasons for permanent exclusion are "persistent disruptive behaviour" and physical assault of adults or other pupils. Black boys are twice as likely as white boys to be excluded (as a proportion of their own population group) and white boys are twice as likely to be excluded as Asian boys. It should be added however, that permanent exclusions are proportionately relatively uncommon – only 0.21% of white boys were permanently excluded in 2007 for example. There are around 7,000 permanent exclusions of boys per annum and around 275,000 fixed term exclusions.⁶⁸

There are a variety of potential explanations for the greater range and number of problems presented by boys in school. There is no space here to explore them in detail but it is believed that girls find it easier to achieve in school settings; are more likely to enjoy school; place a greater value on homework and the presentation of their work; and care more about the opinion of their teachers. It has been argued that "boys feel compelled to conform to a dominant view of masculinity which conceptualises academic work as 'feminine'" and that "anti-school subcultures" exist among boys from the most marginalised backgrounds in which "specific forms of masculinity" are "manifested, in particular, by disruptive behaviour in class". It

The difficulty that some boys are having in engaging at school is important because of the potential connection with boys' ability to engage with wider society as they grow into men. There is also a modest but clear correlation between educational achievement and good mental health in adult life – a correlation may partly be explained by higher educational achievement increasing the chances of obtaining a more satisfying job.⁷² The Foresight Report demonstrates the complexity and importance of the relationship between poorer academic performance and the greater likelihood of emotional dysfunction when it observes that the consequences of untreated mental illness in children include:

... low academic achievement, subsequent psychiatric problems in adult life which may impair relationships and productivity in the workplace, an increased likelihood of unwanted pregnancy and impaired parenting skills, unhealthy lifestyles, and crime...⁷³

Overall, it seems at least probable that educational provision as it is currently structured is not contributing as well as it might to the development of good mental health in boys and men – particularly perhaps, for boys and men from more marginalised population sub-groups.

Finally, for obvious reasons being a victim of bullying at school is strongly associated with potential damage to mental health. By and large, victims of bullying are evenly distributed between the sexes, as are perpetrators of bullying. Boys are however more likely to be subject to physical bullying (24% of boys compared to 12% of girls have experienced violence from others for example). Girls are more likely to experience psychological bullying (19% of girls report having been excluded from friendship groups compared to 5% of boys). To

One group of boys is particularly vulnerable to bullying; half of all gay men report having experienced homophobic attitudes in school – from staff as well as fellow students – and almost half (45%) were victims of bullying directly related to their sexuality. In all, 65% report experiencing problems of one kind or another at school in association with their sexuality – problems which show a direct correlation with poorer mental health.⁷⁶

Men and work

As is widely known, despite the major social changes of the past few decades in relation to gender roles, and despite a range of employment equality legislation, men continue to earn more than women (18% – 40% more on average) and are more often represented at higher levels in management structures. The perhaps inevitable corollary of this is that men remain very much more likely than women to work full time; during the last quarter of 2008 for example, 13.9 million men were in full time work compared to 7.8 million women. This suggests that in the majority of traditional family situations (70% of children are brought up by a male/female couple) the man may remain the primary breadwinner, even where the woman's income is equally important to the household budget. By extension, this necessitates for many men a predominant commitment to work.

The statistics relating to comparative income and employment status are often, quite rightly, cited as evidence of the continued disadvantage experienced in the workplace by women. It is however, possible simultaneously to understand them as directly bearing on the mental health of men. Work and "providing" are, on several familiar levels, an established cultural delineator of masculinity and the "male role". For many men, this means that work confers significant benefits in terms of emotional satisfaction, personal status, self esteem and income. But that does not necessarily mean that work predisposes all men to good mental health. Work and our cultural perception of who should be doing it, can also be a trap.

There are various reasons for this. First of all, the very centrality of work in men's lives has the effect for many, of making their mental health a function of their experience at work. For some this is a very good thing. An important meta analysis of the relationship between job satisfaction and mental health has established that job satisfaction is significantly correlated with positive mental health.⁷⁹ The same study suggests however, that the failure of a job to provide satisfaction may predispose the individual to anxiety and depression.

Moreover, even the most satisfying job can become burdensome if the demands exceed the worker's capacity to cope. The association between stress at work and loss of mental well-being is an obvious one, to the extent that "work-related stress" is itself a commonly accepted mental ill health diagnosis. Estimates vary but it is accepted that around half a million people may be suffering from psychological problems associated with their work at any one time. A major study commissioned by the Health and Safety Executive in 2004 suggested that men were significantly more likely than women to experience most of the factors associated with predisposing workers to work-related stress, such as lower levels of support from peers and manager; higher levels of demand; and lack of understanding of their role. Work-related stress is also comprehensively associated with numerous chronic physical health problems, doubling the risk in men, for example, of heart disease and diabetes. This may be especially true when work-related stress combines with relationship problems. Chronic ill health is, in turn, itself associated with poorer mental health. American research has also suggested that men are more likely than women to rely on less constructive means of coping with work-related stress:

Men in particular reported a greater use of maladaptive coping behaviors in response to work-related stress in the form of excessive drinking, excessive consumption of a range of foodstuffs and/or cigarettes, and avoidance or denial of stressful work situations.⁸³

It should be further noted that men in the UK work the longest hours in Europe. The most recent figures suggest that 27% of men with full-time jobs in the UK work more than 45 hours a week (compared to 9.7% of women). ⁸⁴ 11% of men are believed to work more than 60 hours a week. ⁸⁵ These hours are not always paid. The TUC estimates that 5 million people work over seven hours unpaid overtime every week. Because so many more men work full time, the majority of these people are likely to be men. In the NHS alone for example, 53% of staff report working regular unpaid overtime (unsurprisingly, 33% of NHS staff report having suffered from work-related stress in the preceding 12 months). ⁸⁶ Unpaid overtime is often worked unwillingly. Studies conducted by the TUC suggest that almost half the UK workforce would like to work fewer hours, with 10% willing to accept a reduction in pay to do so. ⁸⁷

Apart from the obvious link with reduced job satisfaction and work-related stress, long working hours also militate against relationships between fathers and their children, which (as we have seen) are extremely important for the mental health of future generations of men. In this context it is interesting to note that fathers implementing their right to request flexible working patterns under the 2002 Employment Act are more likely than mothers to have their requests turned down by their employer (14% against 10%) and more likely to have their

cases fail on appeal to an Employment Tribunal (only 27% of cases are brought by men but men account for 45% of cases that fail).⁸⁸ This suggests at least the possibility that an institutionalised traditional view of gender roles may be causing discrimination against men.

The reverse of long working hours – unemployment – is also a well known predisposing factor for potential mental ill health. The Health Development Agency's review of the evidence concluded that:

... there is a strong association between unemployment and psychological and psychiatric morbidity.... Upon re-employment, there appears to be a reversal of these effects. ⁸⁹

The strong connection between work and masculine status that has already been described, also means that the loss of employment affects men's sense of well-being more damagingly than it does that of women. ^{90, 91} The same is true of continuing job insecurity. ⁹² It is believed that as many as one in seven men may develop depression within 6 months of being made redundant. ⁹³ The reduction in income consequent upon unemployment increases the risk of debt which in turn is associated with an increased likelihood of experiencing poorer mental health. Although cause and effect are difficult to separate, it is know that people with mental health problems are three times more likely to be in problematic debt. ⁹⁴

This is a particularly pressing problem at the moment because of the high rate of redundancies caused by the present recession – even more so because proportionately more men are losing their jobs. During the first quarter of 2009, 183,000 men were made redundant compared to 103,000 women. The employment rate for men during this period was 1.7 percentage points lower than that during first quarter of 2008; the comparative rate change for women was 0.8 percentage points.⁹⁵

Community engagement and supportive relationships

The phrase "social capital" is often employed to encapsulate the extent to which any given society demonstrates the capacity for social "connectedness" among its citizens, and engagement between its citizens and civic processes. ⁹⁶ It is broadly accepted that the greater the level of social capital in society, the lower the likelihood of social dysfunction and the greater the likelihood of better physical and mental health for its citizens. Although much of the early research underpinning the theory of social capital was undertaken in the US and Italy, the ideas are widely accepted to be relevant for most countries in the developed world.

There has been a great deal of interest in recent years in understanding social capital in the UK context – indeed, the tenth *Health Survey for England* in 2000 made an examination of social capital one of its central objectives. An analysis of that survey's findings concluded that for two of the seven measures of social capital that it investigated – "perceived social support" and levels of trust in other people – there was a significant correlation with both "self-assessed health" and objective measures of mental health.⁹⁷ In other words, the lower the level of social support and/or the lower the level of trust in other people, the greater the likelihood that the subject will report feeling in poor health and/or will experience poor mental health.

This relationship between measures of social capital and health held equally true for both men and women. It is notable however that, while men and women tended to score equally on five of the seven measures of social capital, men were markedly more likely to score lower than women on the other two – "contact with family" and "levels of social support".

"Social support" in this context was indicated by the level of physical and emotional engagement between the survey respondent and his or her family and friends, measured

using an established scale. 67% of women reported that they felt fully supported and encouraged in this way, against only 55% of men. At the other end of the scale, 17% of men reported a severe lack of social support, compared to 11% of women. This is a particularly important finding because – as explained above – lack of social support was one of the clear correlates of risk for poorer mental health.

This rather dispiriting situation in regard to men's "ownership" of social capital is borne out by other research. A study commissioned by the Health Development Agency and based on an analysis of different data (the British Household Panel Survey) also concluded that there are significant connections between some measures of social capital and mental and physical health. This study noted that while men appeared more likely to be active in community organisations, they are, by comparison with women:

... more likely to have low contact with friends, low neighbourhood attachment and low social support. 98

A third study concluded:

... it seems that women have more social capital than men in all key dimensions.99

Why men appear to have lower levels of social capital, has not been specifically explored and it seems probable that the reasons are complex and multi-factorial. To take one example, it may be that the reasons vary by social class. 100 Levels of social capital are also known to vary significantly at whole population level by ethnic group. 101 There is no space here to explore the matter of men's poorer social connectedness in detail but earlier research has typically suggested the broad "catch-all" possibility that men tend to exhibit a lower capacity for intimacy in relationships than women. This idea, summarised below, maintains widespread acceptance among academics – and indeed, the general public:

Disclosure and "really knowing" each other is more characteristic of women's friendships, while doing things together is more characteristic of men's friendships.¹⁰²

In 2000 an American study tried to narrow down the potential explanations for this perceived lack of intimacy between men, taking into account that both women and men report valuing and desiring intimacy in friendships. ¹⁰³ Using established scales, the study found men much less likely than women to report intimate best friendships (23.5% of female friendships scored very highly on the scale, compared to only 7.5% of male friendships). Two possibilities from a range of six appeared to have measurable explanatory value in understanding the lack of intimacy in male friendships; emotional restraint in individual men and fear of being perceived as gay. The study nevertheless – and perhaps inevitably – leaves unanswered questions about the origins of these two behaviour patterns in men.

Interestingly, a study by the Mental Health Foundation in 2006 which explored the idea that, for many people, the use of alcohol may function as "self medication" for "low-lying mental health or mood problems", found men markedly more likely than women to use alcohol in order to be able to "fit in socially". This potentially suggests that – whatever the reason – men do find membership of a social community more difficult to achieve than women.

This issue of closeness in friendships is not a peripheral one. It is important because of the potential role of emotionally engaged friends in providing support at times of crisis and in encouraging help-seeking behaviour. Mind's survey of over 2000 people in 2009 for its campaign week on male mental health¹⁰⁵ found that only 29% of men compared to 53% of women would talk to friends about their feelings if they were unhappy. Men were also less likely to talk to family members (31% of men compared to 47% of women). More than half of men on the other hand (52%) would talk to their partner. This is consistent with other findings,

highlighted earlier, that men in stable long term relationships tend to enjoy better mental health than their single counterparts; Mind points out however, that men aged under 45 are three times as likely as women to live alone, so this kind of support is not available to every man – even if he were willing to seek it.

Because there is an established correlation between loneliness in older age and the likelihood of suffering depression, social support is a particularly important for the mental health of older men. Studies have consistently shown older men living alone to be more likely than women to report loneliness, with older men who have never had a partner being particularly likely to do so. Women are known to be more likely to have several emotionally supportive friends, and to maintain more family and friendship contacts into older age than men. As we have just seen, a man is more likely to rely to a greater extent on his "closest person" or "primary attachment" (often his partner). This may make a man more vulnerable to isolation if he becomes widowed.

2. Men's mental health and anti-social behaviour

Male violence

Violent behaviour of all kinds is very much more common in men. Analysis of the data from the Office for National Statistics' (ONS) national survey of over 8,000 adults, *Psychiatric morbidity among adults living in private households*, found that among the population as a whole men were three times more likely than women to have committed a violent act against another person in the preceding five years (18% of men compared to 6% of women). Men were also 4.5 times more likely to have been involved in a fight and more than 6 times as likely to have used a weapon in a fight (3% compared to 0.4%).¹⁰⁹

As we noted in the introduction to this review, men are also the perpetrators in the great majority of cases of reported violent crime. The British Crime Survey 2006 (BCS) reported that men commit 79% of woundings, 77% of domestic violence, 79% of violence against strangers and 86% of muggings.¹¹⁰ Between 1995 and 1999, 89% of homicides were committed by men (59% of all homicides had both male perpetrators and male victims).¹¹¹ Low level non-violent anti-social behaviour is also more common in men. 26% of young men compared to 18% of young women report behaviour such as "being noisy or rude in a public place so that people complained or the individual got into trouble with the police".¹¹²

Men – young men in particular – are also much more likely to be victims of most violence; the BCS found the risk of being a victim of violence was 13.4% among men aged 16 – 24 (compared to 6.4% for women aged 16 – 24, and 1% for men aged over 65). The exceptions are sexual violence and domestic violence where the victims are of course, much more likely to be women; 0.6% of women reported domestic violence to the BCS, compared to 0.2% of men (n.b. the BCS is based on face-to-face interviews; self-report surveys tend to elicit very much higher reporting of domestic violence).¹¹³

Knife crime has been a form of violence of particular public concern in recent years and a "sharp instrument" was used in 28% of the 765 homicides in England and Wales in 2005 – 2006. The statistics on the use of knives as weapons have been the subject of a good deal of contention. The Offending, Crime and Justice Survey (OCJS) which interviewed over 4500 young people aged 10 – 25 found that 5% of young men compared to 2% of young women had carried a knife with them at least once over the previous 12 months; the great majority (85%) claiming to have done so for "protection". The interviewed over the previous 12 months is the great majority (85%) claiming to have done so for "protection".

An amalgamation of data from various sources suggests that the proportion carrying knives is very much higher when limited to the younger age range, with almost a third (32%) of upper school age children claiming to have done so at least once in the 12 months prior to survey. When a narrower range of potentially more dangerous knives is considered however (i.e. once penknives are excluded), the proportion falls significantly. 9% of children in school claim to have carried a flick knife for example although – significantly – this figure rises to 30% of those excluded from school. These latter data are not broken down by gender but it is safe to assume that the majority of the knife carriers will be male.

It is clear then that men – particularly young men – are greatly more likely to exhibit behaviours that threaten and disquiet others, and have the potential in some circumstances to cause very serious harm. The analysis of ONS data cited earlier in this section noted that

in addition to the primary risk factor of being male, risk factors for the commission of violence also included being of lower socio-economic status and being single, separated or divorced (this latter observation incidentally, parallels the greater likelihood of poor mental health in men without a partner highlighted earlier in this report). Violent behaviour declined with age and was less prevalent among the Asian population than among white people and black people.¹¹⁷

The more complex question is to what extent and under what circumstances violent behaviour might be indicative of poor mental health. The propensity for violence in adulthood has been connected in numerous studies with a dysfunctional upbringing and adverse childhood experiences which, as we have already seen, are also connected with greater risk of poorer mental health. It is not clear however why a propensity for violence should be a more common outcome in men than women as a consequence of these circumstances.

The data further suggest that violent behaviour is generally higher among people with mental disorders – although not greatly so in the case of neurotic disorders and psychosis where these occur alone. The association is much stronger in relation to personality disorders and substance misuse (and where these two disorders occur in conjunction with neurotic disorders or psychosis). Alcohol dependence in particular doubles the risk of violent conduct, and hazardous drinking is associated with 56% of all violent incidents. As we have already noted, personality disorders, alcohol dependence and drug dependence are all markedly more common in men.

In support of their case for early intervention, Allen and Duncan-Smith point out that the potential propensity for violence needs to be resolved in childhood. They suggest that "Social and emotional capabilities, especially for empathy, are a significant antidote to anti-social behaviour, including violence". ¹²⁰ We return to the question of the relationship between violence and male mental health in later sections of this review.

Mental health and male prisoners

As we saw in the introduction, 94% of the 80,000+ adult prisoners currently in British jails are men.¹²¹ Offences of violence are the single most common reason for their being there; 22% of male prisoners are serving sentences for "violence against the person", compared to 17% who are serving sentences for burglary and 16% for drug offences (the next highest categories).¹²² Many other offences for which prisoners have been sentenced are also likely to contain elements of violence.

It is estimated that up to 90% of prisoners may have a mental health problem of some kind¹²³ and male prisoners are five times more likely than men in the general population to kill themselves – despite living in a setting where suicide is expressly guarded against.¹²⁴ There is furthermore, a clear association between the likelihood of a man ending up in prison and his having experienced some of the life experiences listed elsewhere in this document as being damaging to mental health:

Compared with the general population, prisoners are thirteen times more likely to have been in care as a child, thirteen times more likely to have been unemployed, ten times more likely to have been a regular truant... six times as likely to have been a young father... 125

Black and minority ethnic men make up 19 per cent of the male prison population (between two and three times the proportion in the general population). It is believed that one of the explanations for this is that men from these population groups are proportionately more likely

to experience the kinds of social exclusion highlighted above.¹²⁶ Black men are also more likely to come to the notice of mental health services via the criminal justice system (see specific section on the mental health of BME men).

It may also be that alternatives to custodial sentences for convicted offenders with mental health problems are under-used. In particular, there have proved to be a number of practical difficulties to making the most effective use of mental health treatment requirements in Suspended Sentence Orders and Community Orders.¹²⁷

There tends to be consensus among mental health specialist organisations that the criminal justice service in general and the prison service in particular, are not well equipped to deal well with mental health problems. Consequently mental health assessment and treatment services for prisoners fall well below those for the rest of the population Constraints of space again prohibit more detailed exploration of this matter but it is worth noting that one of the most respected research and development organisations in the field, The Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health, in outlining its (ideal) *Vision for 2015* offers the following:

Offenders with mental health conditions will, where appropriate, be diverted from prison; and those who are in prisons will be offered equivalent care to that which is offered outside, or transferred promptly to an appropriate NHS secure bed.¹²⁸

The Bradley Report¹²⁹ on the needs of people with mental health problems in the criminal justice system, was published while the present review was in preparation. It does not discuss the relationship between masculinity, mental health and offending and is very largely written in "gender neutral" terms. It does acknowledge the value of gender-specific services, although only in relation to the needs of women offenders – perhaps assuming that because most offenders are male, the existing services must have evolved to meet the needs of men well.

Most of the issues raised in this section (and some raised elsewhere in this report) are considered in the Bradley Report in very much more detail than we are able to examine them here. The Bradley Report makes a number of recommendations with which we strongly concur and which are supported, in relation to men, by the evidence in this review. These recommendations include those in favour of early intervention; those concerned with enhanced training in mental health for people working in the criminal justice system; those calling for better identification of mental health problems among offenders; and those calling for the greater availability of mental health services for offenders.

Alcohol misuse in men

Men are more likely to drink to damaging levels within all three of the categories of alcohol use disorder ("hazardous drinking", "harmful drinking" and "dependent drinking"). Overall, men are more than twice as likely to suffer from an alcohol use disorder (38% of men compared to 16% of women) and three times as likely to be in the most severe category of alcohol dependence (6% of men compared to 2% of women). Around 800,000 men may be alcohol dependent.¹³⁰

Alcohol consumption by boys is also high. The most recent annual national *Health Related Behaviour Questionnaire* found that school-age boys were more likely to report drinking alcohol at all ages that school-age girls. 9% of Year 10 boys (14 – 15 year-olds) reported drinking on three or more days in the week prior to survey for example, compared to 5% of girls – although girls were slightly more likely to report having been drunk on at least one occasion in the preceding week (23% against 20%).¹³¹ The average amount of alcohol

consumed by both boys and girls has increased significantly in recent years. Methods of data collection have changed over the period, making exact comparisons difficult but it is believed that both sexes are now regularly drinking twice the amount they were in 1990. 132

The Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy for England ¹³³ articulated a concern that alcohol misuse levels are unacceptably high and highlighted a range of negative consequences for both individuals and society. In addition to the well known chronic physical health disorders and greater risk of injury (at peak times 70 per cent of all admissions to accident and emergency departments are related to alcohol misuse), alcohol misuse is also – and not surprisingly – associated with a greater risk of relationship problems. Relationship problems, as we have already seen, are a common cause of emotional distress in men. Also as we have already seen, alcohol is also very strongly linked to male violence, anti-social behaviour and crime.

Although estimates of prevalence vary, studies consistently report that "binge drinking" (single episodes of heavy drinking) is also much more common in men, particularly in those aged 16 – 24 (it should be added that the incidence of binge drinking among young women is known to be rising rapidly). Evidence suggests that drinking of this kind can often be ascribed to cultural perceptions among men that drinking in large quantity is a marker of masculinity. ¹³⁴ In the recent Mind survey mentioned earlier, men were twice as likely as women to report using alcohol as a coping strategy when they were feeling low or worried (16% of men compared to 8% of women). ¹³⁵

Given this markedly higher prevalence of all forms of alcohol misuse among men, it is surprising that women appear almost twice as likely (1.7 times) to use specialist alcohol treatment services. ¹³⁶ It is not clear whether this difference is accounted for by better identification of female alcohol misusers by referring agencies or is somehow attributable to the way in which services are designed. ¹³⁷ It seems clear however, that large numbers of men may not get the help that they need and, given the common cultural acceptability of alcohol use, it is probable that many men do not even realise that their drinking may be manifestation of emotional distress. Further, provision of alcohol treatment and dual diagnosis services is acknowledged to be patchy around the country and it may be that some men with more severe problems are trapped in a cycle of alcohol dependence, housing and employment problems, and involvement with the criminal justice system.

Drug misuse in men

The UK has the highest prevalence of illicit drug use in Europe. Illicit drug use is more common in younger people and much more common in men than women. 26% of men aged 16-24 report using cannabis in the previous twelve months compared to 16% of women for example. The same pattern is true for amphetamine use (5% / 2%); use of ecstasy (7% / 3%); and cocaine use (8% / 5%). Young men are more than twice as likely (11% / 6%) as young women to have used any class A drug (cocaine, ecstasy, heroin or LSD). Among adults aged 16-59, the reported use of any illicit drug was 13% for men and 7% for women.

During 2006 – 2007, 140,000 men used drug treatment services compared to 55, 000 women. 61% of treatments were for the use of heroin. The Drug-related deaths are also greatly more common in men. Men made up 79% of the 1573 drug-related deaths in 2008, including 180 intentional (or undetermined) self-poisonings, compared to 107 in women. Male suicide is dealt with later in this review.

The use of illicit drugs is associated with a range of mental health problems. 16% of men with a neurotic disorder report drug use within the past month compared to 8% of men without a neurotic disorder. Men with a neurotic disorder are more than twice as likely to have a cannabis dependency and more than five times as likely to have a dependency on any illicit drug (including cannabis). There is also a clear association between drug misuse and anti-social personality disorder which, as we have seen, is more common in men. The detail is complex because some behaviours are associated with both states but it seems probable that around one in three people with anti-social personality disorder had used an illicit drug within the past month, which is considerably higher than the background rate in the general population.¹⁴¹

The use of illicit drugs is strongly linked to criminal behaviour, although there is "no clear picture of either the extent of the linkage, whether it is associative or even casual". A Home Office funded research programme established that recent drug use was very high among a sample of people arrested for any crime in five English cities (61% of those arrested tested positive for at least one drug). ¹⁴² These data were not reported by gender but it is of course likely that the great majority of these arrestees were male.

3. Specific groups and conditions

Suicide in men

Suicide by men – and particularly suicide by young men – is perhaps the most widely acknowledged of male mental health problems. In recent years the issue has attracted public debate and coverage in the popular media. Each individual suicide is of course, a tragedy for the individual man concerned and for his family and friends. At the broader level however, it is worth remembering that, in most cases, suicide is actually an outcome of a complex web of experiences and circumstances, rather than a self-contained event. In this very important sense, suicide can also be understood as the visible representation of a much greater reservoir of emotional distress that may affect far more men than the relatively small number who will ultimately take their own lives.

The *National Suicide Prevention Strategy for England*, published in 2002, is one of very few national policy documents in any area of health to draw attention to the specific needs of men.¹⁴³ Encouragingly, suicide rates have shown a marked downward trend in recent years. Nevertheless, in 2007 there were still 5,377 deaths by suicide in the UK, the majority of which were in men.¹⁴⁴ On average, men are three times more likely to end their own lives than women, with the peak relative difference occurring between ages 30 – 39 when men are four times more likely to end their own lives.¹⁴⁵ There is a steep socio-economic gradient in male suicide with men from the most deprived population groups more than twice as likely to take their own lives than men in the least deprived areas.¹⁴⁶

The reasons why men are more likely than women to die at their own hand are complex. Men more often choose a means of suicide that leaves less chance of a change of heart, or of being found and given assistance; for example half of male suicides are by hanging or suffocation compared with one third of female suicides (the most common form of female suicide attempt is a drug overdose). As we have seen, for a variety of reasons, men are also less likely to have access to informal or professional support at times of emotional distress and may consequently be more likely to feel that there is no alternative to the most drastic solution.

Suicide is also very strongly associated with a number of other adverse personal circumstances, almost all of which we have seen either to be more common in men or to be more damaging for men. There is space here to highlight only some of them. Alcohol intoxication for example, very greatly increases the immediate likelihood of a suicide attempt and increases the probability of choosing a more lethal method, as does a personal tendency towards aggression. A longer term history of alcohol misuse also increases the likelihood of suicide, as does a history of drug misuse. Male prisoners are five times more likely than men in the general population to kill themselves (and, as we have seen, 94% of prisoners are male). Single, divorced and widowed men are three times more likely than their married counterparts to take their own lives. As we suggest in the section below, it is also possible that depression is under-diagnosed in men, with the consequence that men may be less likely than women to get the help that they need.

Finally, and very importantly in the present climate, a recent *BMJ* editorial has highlighted the historical evidence which suggests that male suicide rates frequently increase at times of economic difficulty. Other researchers have observed that the suicide rate in those under retirement age rises by around 0.7% for each 1% rise in unemployment. The Australian national men's health policy mentioned earlier has also suggested that male suicide may be

linked with the fact that "men are particularly ill-equipped to cope with the sense of failure that may come from the loss of property or job." We have already noted the link between redundancy and depression

The possibility of under-diagnosis of depression in men

It is a paradox that men are three times more likely than women to take their own lives but only half as likely to be diagnosed with depression. It is possible that – for reasons we have already seen – this may be partly explained by the fact that some men living with depression may never present themselves to a health professional who could diagnose them.

Some observers have also speculated however, that the internationally recognised symptomatology for depression inclines towards a view of the disease that emphasises a more "typically female" form of presentation i.e. one in which the patient is tearful, withdrawn, and lacking in motivation and energy. This proposition holds that men may exhibit different symptoms of depression from those seen in women. The most important is that "acting out" in general and "anger attacks" in particular are more common in men. It is suggested that not only are these more "typically male" symptoms often not recognised as symptoms of depression, they may also militate against a sympathetic response from health professionals and other agencies – or even from family and friends. Indeed, these symptoms have the potential actively to prevent the individual getting any help at all (for example if they mean that a man's behaviour brings him in the first instance to the attention of the police rather than to a health professional).

The Mind report on men's mental health takes up this point and suggests that it is:

... essential that health professionals recognise when aggressive or violent behaviour is a potential indicator of mental distress and that this is reflected in the principles of diagnosis. This should help men get the right treatment at the right time instead of allowing mental health problems to deteriorate through not being treated. ¹⁵⁵

The problem of under-diagnosis may be exacerbated by depressed men's greater likelihood of appearing in a clinical setting (if they appear in such a setting at all) with an ostensible "physical" problem, while women may be more likely to directly identify emotional distress as the concern for which they are seeking help.^{156, 157}

It is also considered possible that symptoms of depression in men are more likely to be masked in men by self-medication with alcohol or illicit drugs. In 1999, the Samaritans attempted to identify depressed and potentially suicidal young men within a survey group of 1344 young male respondents. Among other important findings, this survey suggested that a third of the potentially suicidal groups would "smash something" if they were worried or upset compared to only around 9% of those youngsters who were not depressed. The depressed young men were also 10 times more likely to say that they would turn to drugs as a means of coping with distress.¹⁵⁸

Of course, not all men are alike and it is possible that the differences between groups of men are as relevant to this matter as the differences between men and women. The sense of being "trapped" by the incongruity of experiencing depression and vulnerability within a masculine identity may be a particular problem. ¹⁵⁹ Research has suggested for example, that some men concur with a version of masculine self-belief that sees emotional help-seeking as a fundamental indicator of weakness:

It was apparent that to many participants to (be seen to) endure pain and to be "strong and silent" about 'trivial' symptoms, and especially about mental health or emotional problems, was a key practice of masculinity. 160

The ostensibly straightforward option of simply asking for help may in reality, therefore, be fraught with varying degrees of difficulty for many men and irredeemably so for some (particularly perhaps for the most disadvantaged groups). This may increase the likelihood that the pressure of the distress will build up until it boils over in some way. A descriptive model has been developed which proposes that men who do not seek timely help may instead find themselves progressing through a predicable series of attempted coping strategies, each doomed to failure and each more destructive than the one before. In this model, men may begin with attempts to "numb" the pain (through alcohol or drugs for example) before trying to find a means of "escape" and ultimately reaching the point where they are in danger of physically harming themselves or other people. 161

This is by no means a straightforward issue. A paper which analysed the various theories that attempt to explain whether depression is indeed under-diagnosed in men and, if it is, why that is so, observed that:

The existing clinical and research literature on depression in men has provided widely varying answers to these questions, and it is safe to say that there is currently no unifying conceptual framework guiding clinical research or practice. Nor have the assumptions underlying different theoretical frameworks been outlined in detail.¹⁶²

One important and emerging lesson may be the pressing need to find ways of both identifying and treating depression that take account of culturally familiar ideas of masculinity. A recent study based on detailed interviews with men diagnosed with depression has summarised the issue in regard to treatment thus:

... it is important for men with depression to reconstruct a valued sense of themselves and their own masculinity as part of their recovery... For example rather than seeing depression as making one powerless, some men conceptualised it as an heroic struggle from which they emerged a stronger person.¹⁶³

The mental health of men from BME communities

The mental health of men from black and minority (BME) communities has been a controversial subject in recent years. The range of concerns is complex and the issue continues to be extensively debated both professionally and politically. There is inadequate space here to revisit the matter in detail but it is clear enough that this group has had a particularly negative experience of mental health services. The Department of Health's report, *Inside Outside*, acknowledged that:

There does not appear to be a single area of mental health care in this country in which black and minority ethnic groups fare as well as, or better than, the majority white community.¹⁶⁴

The troubled relationship between mental health service providers and the BME community, was also explicitly conceded to have been an important factor in the death of David Bennett, a black psychiatric in-patient who died while being restrained in 1998. The inquiry recognised that:

... institutional racism has been present in the mental health services, both NHS and private for many years.¹⁶⁵

Since 2005 there has been, on a specific single day each year, a national census of inpatients receiving care in publicly funded mental health facilities in England & Wales. This census programme, known as *Count Me In*, will continue until 2010. Its purpose is to provide robust

baseline that will enable future planning of services to take proper account of equality issues. ¹⁶⁶ The 2008 census found that 23% of inpatients belonged to BME groups and noted that:

Men from the White British, Indian and Chinese ethnic groups had lower admission rates than average, by 16%, 18% and 32% respectively. Admission rates were higher than average for men among all other ethnic groups. As in previous censuses, they were particularly high for men from the Black and White/Black Mixed groups, with rates three or more times higher than average. Also, as in previous years, the rate was highest among men from the Other Black group – 13 times higher than average.

Black men were 24% – 33% more likely to have been compulsorily detained and treated under the Mental Health Act, and 31% – 70% more likely to have been among the group (9%) referred to mental health services via the criminal justice system. Black men were also significantly more likely to have been among the 4% of inpatients who had been placed in seclusion at some point during the preceding year. ¹⁶⁸

Estimates vary, but black men born in Britain are very much more likely to be given a diagnosis of schizophrenia than the general population. This high incidence of psychotic illness is not mirrored among men in the Caribbean, which suggests that there may be some specific aspect of the black British male experience that contributes either to higher incidence or inappropriate diagnosis, or both. There is furthermore, some evidence that the incidence of schizophrenia in all BME communities (i.e. not only black communities) increases in direct proportion to the imbalance between white and non-white residents. In other words, the smaller the local BME community, the higher the incidence of schizophrenia in that community 171 – a finding incidentally, which also suggests the potential protective effect of social relationships which we covered earlier in this review.

It should be noted that other minority communities, including those where data is more sparse, may be at higher risk of poorer mental health. It is not possible to examine all such communities here but gypsy and traveller communities for example, are believed to have rates of anxiety and depression many times greater than the population average and may have higher suicide rates.¹⁷²

The mental health of gay men

For various reasons the most recent *Count Me In* census was able to identify the sexuality of only 56% of participants. Of these, only 1% of men and women described themselves as gay or lesbian – a considerably smaller proportion than the estimated 5% - 7% of the population as a whole who are believed to be homosexual. The reasons for this discrepancy are not clear and it is not safe to assume that it indicates a lower prevalence of serious mental illness among gay men.

Research has consistently suggested an increased risk of poorer mental health among gay men. A survey of young gay men in Northern Ireland found that over a third of respondents had been diagnosed with a mental illness at some point in their lives (typically depression and anxiety), and that a similar proportion potentially had a current problem (using the "GH12 score" – an established measure of mental health). 27% of respondents had previously attempted suicide and 30% had self-harmed.¹⁷³ These are much higher proportions than among men in the population as a whole. The study attributed these indicators of poor mental health to:

The impact of negativity when coming out, isolation, difficulties in school and work related to sexual orientation and homophobia in society...

Interestingly in light of our previous discussion of the protective effect of social relationships, this study identified the "key factor" as "the absence of someone to talk to".

Several other studies have noted a higher prevalence of suicidal thoughts and suicide attempts among gay men. An American study using data from a sub-set of over 3500 men who had participated in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey suggested that the risk of completed suicide may be up to five times greater among gay men than among heterosexual men, with the greatest risk concentrated on younger men.¹⁷⁴ This study also identified a somewhat greater prevalence of depression among young gay men than among the population as a whole and concluded that analysis of the data had provided "further evidence that adolescence may be a particularly difficult time for young gay men."

A UK study produced similar results with 44% of gay men scoring above the threshold for a common mental disorder compared with 35% of heterosexual men (for unexplained reasons, levels of mental disorder were much higher in this study than the background levels in the population as whole). This study also noted higher levels of illicit drug use among gay men; greater use of mental health services regardless of present state of mental health; and a higher risk of self harm, which it noted "would seem to have less to do with confusion about sexuality than confusion about how to express it openly in society." Eating disorders, which are covered briefly later in this review, are also known to be very much more common in gay men than heterosexual men. 176

Finally it is worth noting that socialisation, which we discussed earlier, commonly assumes that boys are likely to grow up to be heterosexual – a popular notion that inevitably makes life more difficult for boys who become aware that they are gay. This is also important because this tendency to assume heterosexuality also limits the range of "gender appropriate" behaviours, roles and relationships that men of any sexual orientation are comfortably able to express in adulthood.¹⁷⁷ It is interesting to note that in a series of interviews with men (of all sexual orientations) diagnosed with depression in adulthood, several recalled that showing vulnerability in adolescence resulted in them being called "'sissies', 'poofs' or 'gays'".¹⁷⁸

PTSD and the mental health of ex-servicemen

Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) occurs in some people who have had suffered an overwhelmingly traumatic experience. It has a range of symptoms which may include depression and withdrawal; vivid and frightening flashbacks; and irritability aggression and violence. For obvious reasons, PTSD is much more common among ex-services personnel who have had frontline experiences, the great majority of whom are men.

The UK's only specialist organisation for ex-services personnel suffering from PTSD, Combat Stress, has reported a 53 per cent increase in referrals during the past three years, including 1,160 new cases during 2008 and over 2500 admitted for treatment during the same period. This increase is attributed to the recent conflicts in Afghanistan and Iraq which, in addition to causing many new psychological casualties, are believed also to have encouraged men still suffering distress from earlier conflicts to seek help.

In February 2009, Lance Corporal Johnson Beharry the only currently serving soldier to have been awarded the Victoria Cross, took the unusual step of giving a national newspaper interview in which he described his own "nightmares, mood swings and irrational rages" before calling for better services for ex-services personnel who have been psychologically damaged by their experiences. ¹⁸⁰ In August 2009, the same newspaper carried a personal dispatch from an un-named officer in the Welsh Guards who wrote about the problems of dealing with grief and distress at the frontline in Afghanistan:

With each death I think each of us experiences a feeling of total shock, powerlessness and impotence... there is no refuge, no private corner to go to, to deal with your grief... So the event of each death is placed zipped up in a mental body bag, back in the recesses of your mind... quite possibly to come out and be re-opened, once you return home and have the chance to think about each death, each injury, each friend gone.¹⁸¹

During the first three months of 2008, the Ministry of Defence reported 862 serving armed forces personnel as having been diagnosed with a mental health disorder, just over half of whom (489) had seen service in Afghanistan or Iraq. This suggests an incidence rate of 4 per 1000 personnel for men (less than half the rate for servicewomen). 44 of these 862 were diagnosed as suffering from PTSD, which was described as a "rare condition". 1822

It is believed that ex-servicemen are over-represented among the homeless population. Estimates of the proportion of rough sleepers who are ex-services personnel (very largely men) are variable but figures from 9% to 25% have been suggested. Data from a small random sample of ex-servicemen found that 30% had been homeless at some point since leaving the forces, and 8% had had the experience of sleeping rough.¹⁸³

A pilot study of ex-servicemen who were sleeping rough at the time of survey found broadly similar high levels of mental illness, alcohol dependence, drug misuse, criminality and adverse childhood experiences as within a comparison group of civilian rough sleepers. 15% of the ex-servicemen indicated that they spent had their very first night after discharge sleeping rough (although it should be noted that some older rough sleepers will have left the armed forces before the introduction of improved resettlement support). 60% of the survey group had seen active service. 184

Young ex-servicemen (those aged under 24) are between two and three times more likely than young men in the population as a whole to end their lives by suicide. It is not clear however whether this is linked to their service experiences or to their pre-service background placing them at higher risk of suicide (for example because of lower socio-economic status – see earlier section on suicide in men). Older ex-servicemen are not at greater risk of suicide; indeed, it may be that a service career (like other secure and satisfying employment) is protective of mental health in that suicide rates for servicemen aged 30 – 49 are lower than those in the general population.¹⁸⁵

Specific forms of mental ill health

The limited scope of this review precludes detailed exploration of some of the more specific forms of mental ill health or psychological distress but there are two that should be mentioned, both of which are believed to be under-recognised in men because they are more often encountered in women.

We acknowledge that both these issues of very great importance to those who suffer from them. They are addressed in brief here only because of limitations of space. This brevity should not be taken as suggesting that these matters are regarded as of lower importance. We draw attention in the recommendations below to the need to look at these issues, and others like them, in more detail in the longer run

Sexual abuse in childhood and adolescence is often viewed as having long term damaging effects primarily for adult women. Precise figures about the prevalence of having been a victim of child sexual abuse are difficult to obtain. Under-reporting is believed to be common because some people (perhaps especially men) prefer not to recall these events. Further, there are significant difficulties with definitions, which may vary from one study to another. Canadian research has however estimated that anything up to one third of men may have

experienced some form of sexual abuse in childhood and that men may make up anything from 10% - 50% of all victims. ¹⁸⁶

Having been a victim of sexual abuse in childhood is very strongly associated with an increased risk of mental ill health in both childhood and adulthood. A 2004 British study noted that a history of sexual abuse is associated with twentyfold increased risk of conduct disorders in childhood, and an eightfold increased risk of personality disorder and a fivefold increased risk of anxiety and acute stress disorders in adulthood. The authors of the study also observed that:

... although subtle differences may exist in the responses to child sexual abuse between the genders, male victims show associations to most adverse mental health outcomes that are just as strong as those shown in females.

Eating disorders are often exclusively associated with women, particularly young women. In fact, 10% of diagnosed cases of eating disorder occur in young men and the Eating Disorders Association (EDA) believes that the real proportion may be higher still. The EDA suggests that male eating disorders may be under-diagnosed because doctors tend not to look for the condition in men and because young men are less likely than young women to seek help.¹⁸⁸ It is acknowledged that there are often problems for men who do seek help because specialist services tend to be strongly geared towards meeting the needs of women.¹⁸⁹ It is also possible that eating disorders in young men are on the increase because of growing pressure on men to conform to an "ideal" body shape. This pressure is also believed to be associated with an apparent increase in body dysmorphic disorders (excessive concern that parts of one's body are "not good enough") in young men, and in particular with "muscle dysmorphia" (the idea that the body is not muscular or athletic enough).^{190, 191}

Discussion

This review has demonstrated that men often have mental health needs that are distinct from those of women and which are particularly associated with the lived experience of being male. Some of these needs are not to being met as effectively as they might.

The evidence from service provision in relation to physical health is that men tend, in general terms, to be less knowledgeable about health than women and to take less care of their personal health. Some groups of men are known to delay seeking help even when they have recognisable symptoms. This inevitably means that health services are sometimes less effective in delivering good outcomes for men. In some cases, it may even mean that services have inadvertently developed in such a way that they have become less well equipped to meet the needs of men. This review suggests that – perhaps not unexpectedly – these kinds of problems also exist in mental health services.

What emerges most strongly however, is that these underlying difficulties are significantly compounded by a factor that is peculiar to mental health. This is that some of the accepted cultural markers of masculinity – for example (and among others): the willingness to "soldier on" when under emotional stress; the consumption of large amounts of alcohol; the greater propensity to physical aggression; the greater tendency of boys to misbehave in school – are also potential symptoms of, or predisposing factors for, poor mental health. Many of these behaviours are so familiar that they seem indisputably "normal" even though it is easy to see that they are sometimes simultaneously damaging.

Further, some potentially damaging choices apparently made willingly by men – for example to work long hours or to prioritise career over family – may in fact be forced on them by circumstances.

Of course, this does not mean that all men who exhibit these characteristics, or find themselves in these circumstances, are suffering psychological distress to the point of requiring treatment. To suggest this would be absurd and – as we said at the outset – it is not the intention of this review to pathologise maleness. At the same time, the review suggests that there is a good case to try for a better understanding of the relationship between some of these behaviours and poor mental health in men, where that occurs.

This poses significant problems. First, it is very difficult to separate out those men who may be struggling to cope from those who are not. Second – and this is the lesson from other areas of health – the expertise to plan and deliver services that men are willing to use may be lacking. Finally, it will be immensely challenging to engage men in a dialogue that encourages them to *ask themselves* whether they should be seeking help.

It should also be said that not all the most important issues are concentrated within the framework outlined above. The ongoing problems experienced by men in the black community, the poorer services experienced by mentally disordered prisoners, the increase in eating disorders among boys and so on are all examples of issues that are to some extent self-contained and which perhaps need to be tackled within that context.

Conclusions

We have seen that there are numerous mental health concerns that meet the definition of a male health issue with which we began; that is to say, they arise from factors that are specific to men and/or they would benefit being addressed in a male-specific way. It was not part of our brief to make formal recommendations for future action. We do however urge consideration of an approach that takes account of the particular needs of men, in parallel of course with an approach that takes account of the particular needs of women. We believe the evidence in this review supports such an approach.

There have been calls (from the Men's Health Forum in 2006 and Mind in 2009) ^{192, 193} for a national strategy for men's mental health. There are good arguments in favour of such a course of action. The more important issue however is simply to ensure that the knowledge in this review is widely disseminated and used to inform future practice. The process for doing that needs to fit with the wider policy context but the precise means by which progress should be made is rather less important than that progress should happen.

The change that is needed is to make sure that the specific needs of men are properly considered in the development, planning and delivery of mental health services. In its call for a national strategy Mind pointed out that the ongoing *New Horizons* review of the future of mental health services offers the ideal opportunity to make the necessary commitment. Putting aside for now the debate about whether or not there should be a national strategy, *New Horizons* is undoubtedly a wholly appropriate starting point for taking a more concentrated approach to men's mental health. We very much hope the opportunity will be seized – not least because, again as we have already seen, there is now a legislative duty on service-providers to ensure that services meet the needs of both sexes fairly and appropriately.

Finally, we believe that this review provides good evidence for taking the following ideas and principles into account when future actions are planned:

- A cross-cutting approach. Improving and maintaining the mental health of men is not just a function of mental health services. To take just two examples highlighted in this review, education provision and employment legislation both have a crucial part to play.
- Simply being male could and should be seen as a primary risk factor for several specific mental health problems. These include alcohol dependence; drug dependence; suicide; aggressive or criminal behaviour where that is associated with underlying emotional distress; and behavioural problems in school. Consideration should be given to developing more male-specific approaches to prevention and treatment.
- **Depression may be under-diagnosed in men**. This idea needs further investigation and may require both diagnostic and treatment services to become more flexible.
- Many men who need help may not say so, and some may come to notice in ways that do not encourage a sympathetic response. Tackling these problems will need more flexible services and perhaps increased "outreach", backed up with the development of a research base into the most effective types of response.

- Boys are falling behind in education. A poor experience of school militates against good mental health in a variety of ways. It is important to find ways of improving boys' educational performance.
- It is important to support and encourage fathers, especially those in the most adverse circumstances. This has important potential to improve the psychological health of adult men in the longer term as well as improving the self esteem of fathers themselves.
- Male-specific helpline services may have something to offer. It should be acknowledged that men are thought to be more reluctant than women to use health-related helplines. ¹⁹⁴ At the same time, the Australian Mensline has shown that men will use helpline services that are appropriately designed and targeted. CALM has achieved similar success in the UK in relation to young men in particular. ¹⁹⁵ It is at least possible that a dedicated helpline service could offer a first step to men who find difficulty in making the leap to seeking help in person.
- Early intervention. Encouraging boys to become more sensitive to their own emotional needs and the emotional needs of those around them will not solve all the problems but it has the potential to help considerably. The Marmot Review of Health Inequalities has recently pointed out that "Economists now argue that investment in early childhood is one of the most powerful investments a country can make, with returns over the lifecourse many times the amount of the original investment". ¹⁹⁶
- A cultural shift is needed that will allow boys and men to explore a less restricted version of masculinity. Similar to the point about early intervention above, this is not a magic wand but it has the potential to help. Role models and public information programmes may be important here as could be the "reclaiming" of some positive, traditionally masculine, attributes.
- Poor working practices contribute to poor mental health. Employers should not routinely expect people to work long hours, especially without pay. Good employers and good employment practice can improve the mental health of men.
- Many men in prison have had adverse childhood experiences and are suffering from psychological problems. Public safety must remain paramount but there is a strong case for more thoughtful assessment and treatment of some prisoners. If implemented as intended, the recommendations of the Bradley Report have the potential to make a significant difference to the way mentally disordered offenders are identified and treated.
- Several specific forms of psychological distress have particular importance for men and need to be considered from a male perspective. Two examples eating disorders and having been a victim of sexual abuse in childhood are given in the text (four, if PTSD in ex-servicemen and male post-natal depression are added to this category). It seems certain that there are others.

References

- ¹ Wilkins D and Baker P. Getting It Sorted: a policy programme for men's health. London: Men's Health Forum; 2003.
- ² Department of Health. Mainstreaming Gender and Women's Mental Health. London: Department of Health; 2003.
- ³ Saddler K and Bebbington P. "Psychosis": in McManus S, Meltzer H, Traolach B, Bebbington P and Jenkins R (eds). *Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2007.* Leeds: NHS Information Centre; 2009.
- ⁴ Kennedy N, Boydell J, Kalindi S et al. "Gender Differences in Incidence and Age at Onset of Mania and Bipolar Disorder Over a 35-Year Period in Camberwell, England. 2007: *American Journal of Psychiatry* 162.
- ⁵ Castle D, Sham P and Murray R. "Differences in distribution of ages of onset in males and females with schizophrenia." 1998: *Schizophrenia Research* 33.
- ⁶ Deverill C and King M. "Common mental disorders": in McManus S, Meltzer H, Traolach B, Bebbington P and Jenkins R (eds). *Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey 2007*. Leeds: NHS Information Centre; 2009.
- ⁷ Craig R and Mindell J (eds). *Health Survey for England 2006: Vol. 1, Cardiovascular disease and risk factors in adults.* Leeds: NHS Information Centre; 2008.
- ⁸ Baker A, Brock A, Fegan G, Griffiths C, Jackson G and Marshall D. "Suicide trends and geographical variations in the United Kingdom, 1991-2004": in *Health Statistics Quarterly* no. 31. London: Office for National Statistics; 2006.
- ⁹ Biehal N, Wade J and Mitchell F. Lost from view: Missing persons in the UK. Bristol: Policy Press; 2003
- ¹⁰ Department of the Environment, Transport and the Regions. *Rough sleeping, the government strategy.* London: Rough Sleepers Unit; 1999.
- ¹¹ Department of Health, University of London, Kable Limited and MORI Social Research. Alcohol Needs Assessment Research Project: the 2004 national alcohol needs assessment for England. London: Department of Health; 2005.
- ¹² The Information Centre for Health and Social Care. Statistics on Drug Misuse: England, 2008. Leeds: NHS Information Centre; 2009.
- ¹³ The Information Centre for Health and Social Care. *Statistics on Drug Misuse: England, 2008.* Leeds: NHS Information Centre; 2009
- ¹⁴ Ministry of Justice. *Population in custody: Monthly tables, March 2009. England and Wales.* London: Ministry of Justice; 2009.
- ¹⁵ Social Exclusion Unit. Mental Health and Social Exclusion. London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister; 2004
- ¹⁶ Health and Social Care Information Centre, Mental Health and Community Care Team. *In-patients formally detained in hospitals under the Mental Health Act 1983 and other legislation, England: 1997-98 to 2007-08.* Leeds: NHS Information Centre: 2008
- ¹⁷ Boreham R, Stafford M and Taylor R. *Health Survey for England 2000: Social capital and health.* London: The Stationery Office; 2000.
- ¹⁸ Pevalin D and Rose D. *Social Capital for Health: Investigating the link between social capital and health using the British Household Panel Survey.* London: Health Development Agency; 2003.
- ¹⁹ Kershaw C, Nicholas S and Walker A (eds). *Crime in England and Wales 2007/08: Findings from the British Crime Survey and police recorded crime*. London: The Home Office; 2008.
- ²⁰ Department for Children, Schools and Families, Assembly for Wales and the Scottish Executive cited at *The Poverty Site* www.poverty.org.uk. Joseph Rowntree Foundation; 2008.
- ²¹ Department for Children, Schools and Families. GCSE and equivalent examination results in England 2007/08 (revised). London: Office for National Statistics; 2009.
- ²² Rethink. *Personality disorders factsheet.* London: Rethink; 2009.
- ²³ Rethink. *Personality disorders factsheet.* London: Rethink; 2009.
- ²⁴ Ullrich S and Coid J. "Antisocial personality disorder: Co-morbid Axis I mental disorders and health service use among a national household population". 2009: Pesonality and Mental Health no. 3.
- ²⁵ Rethink. *Personality disorders factsheet.* London: Rethink; 2009.
- ²⁶ Jenkins R et al. Forsesight Mental Capital and Wellbeing Report. Mental Health: Future challenges. London: The government Office for Science; 2008.

- ²⁷ Department of Health. Cancer Reform Strategy. London: Department of Health; 2007
- ²⁸ Department of Health. *Choosing health through pharmacy.* London: Department of Health; 2007.
- ²⁹ National Chlamydia Screening Programme. *Men too...* London: Health Protection Agency; 2007
- 30 For further information see: www.chlamydiascreening.nhs.uk/ps/engaging/index.html
- 31 www.iapt.nhs.uk
- 32 www.time-to-change.org.uk
- ³³ For information relating to the Gender Equality Duty and health service provision see: www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Equalityandhumanrights/Genderequality/index.htm
- ³⁴ Brody L. "Gender and Emotion: Beyond Stereotypes". 1997: Journal of Social Issues vol. 53 no. 2.
- ³⁵ Nolen-Hoeksema S. and Rusting C. "Gender Differences in Well-being" in Kahneman D, Diener E and Shwartz N (eds) Well-Being: The Foundations of Hedonic Psychology. New York: Russell Sage Foundation; 1999.
- ³⁶ Nolen-Hoeksema S. and Rusting C. "Gender Differences in Well-being" in Kahneman D, Diener E and Shwartz N (eds) Well-Being: The Foundations of Hedonic Psychology. New York: Russell Sage Foundation; 1999.
- ³⁷ Baron-Cohen S. *The Essential Difference*. London: Allen Lane; 2003
- ³⁸ For an introduction to these theories see: Dunbar R, Barrettt L and Lycett J: Evolutionary Psychology.

 Oxford: Oneworld; 2007 and Alcock J. *The Triumph of Sociobiology.* Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2001.
- ³⁹ Kilmartin C. The Masculine Self (second edition). Boston: Mcgraw-Hill; 2000.
- ⁴⁰ Eagly A H and Steffen V J. "Gender and aggressive behavior: A meta-analytic review of the social psychological literature". 1991: *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin* 17.
- ⁴¹ Fathers Direct (now the Fatherhood Institute). FatherFacts: What Good Are Dads? London: Fathers Direct; 2001.
- ⁴² Fathers Direct (now the Fatherhood Institute). FatherFacts: What Good Are Dads? London: Fathers Direct; 2001.
- ⁴³ Fathers Direct (now the Fatherhood Institute). FatherFacts: What Good Are Dads? London: Fathers Direct; 2001.
- ⁴⁴ Brody L., "Gender and Emotion: Beyond Stereotypes". 1997: Journal of Social Issues vol. 53 no. 2.
- ⁴⁵ The Samaritans. *Young men speak out.* London: The Samaritans; 1999.
- 46 Ramchandani P and Psychagiou L. "Paternal psychiatric disorders and children's psychosocial development". 2009: The Lancet.
- ⁴⁷ Census 2001 data at National Statistics Online. <u>www.statistics.gov.uk</u>
- ⁴⁸ Dunn J.et al. "Children's perspectives on their relationships with their nonresident fathers: influences, outcomes and implications". 2004: *Journal of Child Pschology and Psychiatry* vol. 45 no. 3.
- ⁴⁹ Calderwood L. "The First Age" in Stewart I and Vaitilingam R (eds) *Seven Ages of Man and Woman.* (Economic and Social Research Council, Swindon 2000)
- ⁵⁰ Allen G and Duncan Smith I. *Early Intervention: Good Parents. Great Kids, Better Citizens.* London: The Centre for Social Justice and the Smith Institute; 2008.
- ⁵¹ Jaffee S, Moffit T, Caspi A and Taylor A. "A life with (or without) father: the benefits of living with two biological parents depend on the father's antisocial behaviour". 2003: *Child Development* vol. 74 no. 1.
- ⁵² Ramchandani P et al, "Paternal depression in the postnatal period and child development: a prospective populations study". 2005: *The Lancet*.
- ⁵³ Goodman J. "Paternal postpartum depression, its relationship to maternal postpartum depression, and implications for family health". 2003: *Journal of Advanced Nursing* vol. 45 no. 1.
- ⁵⁴ Ramchandani P et al, "Paternal depression in the postnatal period and child development: a prospective populations study". 2005: *The Lancet*.
- ⁵⁵ Burgess A. Maternal and infant health in the perinatal period: the father's role. Abergavenny: The Fatherhood Institute; 2008.
- ⁵⁶ Argyle M. "Causes and Correlates of Happiness" in Kahneman D, Diener E and Shwartz N (eds) Well-Being: The Foundations of Hedonic Psychology. New York: Russell Sage Foundation; 1999.
- ⁵⁷ Argyle M. *The Psychology of Happiness* (Second Edition). 2001: London; Routledge.
- ⁵⁸ Argyle M. *The Psychology of Happiness* (Second Edition). 2001: London; Routledge
- ⁵⁹ See: <u>www.menslineaus.org.au</u>

- 60 See: www.menslineaus.org.au
- ⁶¹ Broecke S and Hamed J. *Gender Gaps in Higher Education Participation*. 2008: London; Department of Innovation, Universities and Skills.
- ⁶² See ministerial foreword to: Women and Equality Unit. *Advancing Equality for Men and Women:Government proposals to introduce a public sector duty to promot egender equality.* 2005: London; Department of Trade and Industry.
- ⁶³ Department for Education and Skills. Gender and education: the evidence on pupils in England. 2007: Nottingham; DfES Publications.
- ⁶⁴ Department for Education and Skills. Ethnicity and Education: The Evidence on Minority Ethnic Pupils. 2005: Nottingham; DfES Publications.
- ⁶⁵ Department for Education and Skills. *Gender and education: the evidence on pupils in England.* 2007: Nottingham; DfES Publications.
- ⁶⁶ Myttas N. "Understanding and recognizing ADHD". 2001: Practice Nursing vol. 12 no. 7.
- ⁶⁷ Jenkins R et al. *Forsesight Mental Capital and Wellbeing Report. Mental Health: Future challenges.* London: The government Office for Science; 2008.
- ⁶⁸ Department for Education and Skills. Gender and education: the evidence on pupils in England. 2007: Nottingham; DfES Publications.
- ⁶⁹ Department for Education and Skills. *Gender and education: the evidence on pupils in England.* 2007: Nottingham; DfES Publications.
- ⁷⁰ Forde et al (2006) cited in: Department for Education and Skills. *Gender and education: the evidence on pupils in England.* 2007: Nottingham; DfES Publications.
- ⁷¹ Connolly (2006) cited in: Department for Education and Skills. *Gender and education: the evidence on pupils in England.* 2007: Nottingham; DfES Publications.
- ⁷² Argyle M. "Causes and Correlates of Happiness" in Kahneman D, Diener E and Shwartz N (eds) *Well-Being: The Foundations of Hedonic Psychology.* New York: Russell Sage Foundation; 1999.
- ⁷³ Jenkins R et al. *Forsesight Mental Capital and Wellbeing Report. Mental Health: Future challenges.* London: The government Office for Science; 2008.
- ⁷⁴ Anti Bullying Network. *Bullying: Questions and Answers* at <u>www.antibullying.net</u>
- ⁷⁵ Department for Education and Skills. *Gender and education: the evidence on pupils in England.* 2007: Nottingham; DfES Publications.
- ⁷⁶ McNamee H. *Out on your own: An examination of the mental health of same-sex attracted young men.* 2006: Belfast; The Rainbow Project.
- ⁷⁷ Equal Opportunities Commission (now part of the Equality and Human Rights Commission). *Facts about women and men in Great Britain.* Manchester: EOC; 2005.
- ⁷⁸ Office for National Statistics. Labour market statistics May 2009. Issued monthly at National Statistics Online: www.statistics.gov.uk
- ⁷⁹ Faragher E B, Cass M and Cooper C L. "The relationship between job satisfaction and health: a meta analysis". 2005: Occupational and Environmental Medicine no. 62.
- ⁸⁰ Health & Safety Executive. Psychosocial Working Conditions in Great Britain in 2004. London: Health & Safety Executive; 2004..
- 81 Chandola T., Brunner E. and Marmot M., "Chronic stress at work and the metabolic syndrome". 2006: BMJ 332. .
- 82 Matthews K, Gump B. "Chronic Work Stress and Marital Dissolution Increase Risk of Post-trial Mortality in Men From the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial". 2002: Archives of Intenal Medicine vol. 162 no. 3.
- ⁸³ Lindquist L, Beilin L and Knuiman M. "Influence of Lifestyle, Coping, and Job Stress on Blood Pressure in Men and Women". 1997: *Hypertension* vol. 29 no. 1.
- 84 Office for National Statistics. Labour market statistics May 2009. Issued monthly at National Statistics Online: www.statistics.gov.uk
- ⁸⁵ Hogarth T et al. *The Business context to long hours working (Employment Relations Research Series No. 23.)*London: Department of Trade and Industry; 2003.
- 86 The Healthcare Commission (now part of the Care Quality Commission). The National NHS Staff Survey 2007. London: Healthcare Commission; 2008.
- ⁸⁷ See the *Changing Times* pages at www.tuc.org.uk for an exploration of issues related to work/life balance. The Care Quality Commission

- ⁸⁸ Fagan C, Hegewisch A and Pillinger J. *Out of Time: Why Britain needs a new approach to working time flexibility.* London: TUC: 2006.
- ⁸⁹ Health Development Agency (now part of NICE as the Centre for Public Health Excellence). Worklessness and health what do we know about the causal relationship. London: Health Development Agency; 2005.
- ⁹⁰ Tiffin K, Pearce M and Parker L. "Social mobility over the lifecourse and self reported mental health at age 50: prospective cohort study". 2005: Journal of Epidemiology and Public Health 59.
- ⁹¹ Mind. Men and mental health: Get it off your chest. London: Mind; 2009.
- ⁹² Burchell B. Presentation at *The Credit Crunch: Gender Equality in Hard Times*. Seminar at the University of Cambridge, March 6th 2009.
- 93 Kivimaki M (2007) cited in: Mind. Men and mental health: Get it off your chest. London: Mind; 2009.
- ⁹⁴ Office for National Statistics cited in: Mind. *In the red: Debt and mental health.* London; Mind; 1998.
- 95 Office for National Statistics. Labour market statistics May 2009. Issued monthly at National Statistics Online: www.statistics.gov.uk
- ⁹⁶ For a general introduction to the idea of "social capital" see: Putnam R. Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon and Shuster; 2000.
- ⁹⁷ Boreham R, Stafford M and Taylor R. Health Survey for England 2000: Social capital and health London: The Stationery Office; 2000.
- ⁹⁸ Pevalin D and Rose D. *Social Capital for Health: Investigating the link between social capital and health using the British Household Panel Survey.* London: Health Development Agency; 2003.
- ⁹⁹ Li Y, Pickles A and Savage M. *Conceptualising and measuring social capital: A new approach.* Manchester: Centre for Census and Survey Research, Manchester University; 2003.
- ¹⁰⁰ Li Y, Savage M and Pickles A. "Social Change, Friendship and Civic Participation". 2003: Sociological Research Online, vol. 8, no. 4.
- 101 Li Y. Social Capital and Labour Market Attainment of Black and Minority Ethnic Groups in Britain. Birmingham: Dept of Sociology, Birmingham University; 2005.
- ¹⁰² O'Connor P cited in: Jamieson L. *Intimacy: Personal Relatioships in Modern Societies*. Cambridge: Polity Press; 1998.
- 103 Bank B and Hansford S. "Gender and friendship: Why are men's best same-sex friendships less intimate and supportive?".
 2000: Personal Relationships no. 7.
- ¹⁰⁴ Mental Health Foundation. *Cheers?: Understanding the relationship between alcohol and mental health.* London: Mental Health Foundation; 2006.
- ¹⁰⁵ Mind. Men and mental health: Get it off your chest. London: Mind; 2009.
- ¹⁰⁶ Fuhrer R, Stansfeld S, Chemali J and Shipley M. "Gender, social relations and mental health: prospective findings from an occupational cohort (Whitehall II study)". 1999: *Social Science and Medicine* no. 48.
- ¹⁰⁷ de Jong Gierveld J. "Social networks and social well-being of older men and women living alone" in: Arber s, Davidson K and JGinn J (eds). *Gender and ageing: Changing roles and relationships*. Maidenhead: Open University Press; 2003
- 108 Alpass F and Neville S. "Loneliness, health and depression in older males". 2003: Aging and Mental Health vol. 7 no. 3.
- 109 Coid J et al. "Violence and Psychiatric Morbidity in a National Household Population A Report from the British Household Survey" 2006: American Journal of Epidemiology vol. 164 no. 12.
- ¹¹⁰ Kershaw C, Nicholas S and Walker A (eds). Crime in England and Wales 2007/08: Findings from the British Crime Survey and police recorded crime. London: The Home Office; 2008.
- ¹¹¹ Brookman F. "Confrontational and revenge homicides among men in England and Wales". 2003: Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminiology.
- ¹¹² Roe S and Ashe J. *Young people and crime: findings from the 2006 Offending, Crime and Justice Survey.* London: The Home Office; 2008.
- ¹¹³ Kershaw C, Nicholas S and Walker A (eds). Crime in England and Wales 2007/08: Findings from the British Crime Survey and police recorded crime. London: The Home Office; 2008.
- ¹¹⁴ Eades C, Grimshaw R, Silvestri A and Solomon E. *"Knife Crime": A review of evidence and policy.* London: Centre for Crime and Justice Studies at King's College London; 2007.
- ¹¹⁵ Roe S and Ashe J. Young people and crime: findings from the 2006 Offending, Crime and Justice Survey. London: The Home Office; 2008.

- ¹¹⁶ Eades C, Grimshaw R, Silvestri A and Solomon E. "Knife Crime": A review of evidence and policy. London: Centre for Crime and Justice Studies at King's College London; 2007.
- 117 Coid J et al. "Violence and Psychiatric Morbidity in a National Household Population A Report from the British Household Survey" 2006: American Journal of Epidemiology vol. 164 no. 12.
- ¹¹⁸ For a summary of some of the evidence, see chapter 2 in Allen G and Duncan –Smith I. *Early Intervention: Good Parents. Great Kids, Better Citizens.* London: The Centre for Social Justice and the Smith Institute; 2008.
- ¹¹⁹ Coid J et al. "Violence and Psychiatric Morbidity in a National Household Population A Report from the British Household Survey" 2006: *American Journal of Epidemiology* vol. 164 no. 12.
- ¹²⁰ Allen G and Duncan Smith I. *Early Intervention: Good Parents. Great Kids, Better Citizens.* London: The Centre for Social Justice and the Smith Institute; 2008.
- ¹²¹ Ministry of Justice. *Prison population and accommodation briefing.* Updated weekly at: <u>www.hmprisonservice.gov.uk</u>
- ¹²² Councell R and Olagundoye J. *The prison population in 2001: a statistical review.* London: The Home Office; 2002.
- ¹²³ Prison Reform Trust. *The Prison Factfile*. London: Prison Reform Trust; 2005.
- ¹²⁴ Fazel S, Benning R and Danesh J. "Suicides in male prisoners in England and Wales 1978 2003" 2005: *The Lancet* vol. 366 no. 9493.
- ¹²⁵ Social Exclusion Unit, Reducing re-offendingby ex-prisoners (Summary). London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister; 2002.
- ¹²⁶ Social Exclusion Unit. *Reducing re-offending by ex-prisoners.* London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister; 2002.
- ¹²⁷ Mair G and Mills H. *The Community Order and the Suspended Sentence Order three years on: The views and experiences of probation officers and offenders.* London: Centre for Crime and Justice Studies; 2009.
- ¹²⁸ Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health. *The Future of Mental Health: A Vision for 2015.* London: Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health; 2006.
- ¹²⁹ The Rt Hon Lord Bradley. The Bradley Report: Lord Bradley's review of people with mental health problems or learning disabilities in the criminal justice system. London: Department of Health; 2009.
- ¹³⁰ Granville G "Alcohol misuse": in Wilkins D, Payne S, Granville G, and Branney P. *The gender and access to health services study.* London: Department of Health; 2008.
- ¹³¹ SHEU (formerly the Schools Health Education Unit). Young people into 2007. Exeter: SHEU; 2008.
- ¹³² Smith L and Foxcroft D. *Drinking in the UK: An exploration of trends*. York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation; 2009.
- ¹³³ Cabinet Office Strategy Unit. Alcohol Harm Reduction Strategy. London: Strategy Unit; 2004.
- ¹³⁴ Granville G "Alcohol misuse": in Wilkins D, Payne S, Granville G, and Branney P. *The gender and access to health services study.* London: Department of Health; 2008.
- ¹³⁵ Mind. Men and mental health: Get it off your chest. London: Mind; 2009.
- ¹³⁶ Drummond C, Oyefeso A. Phillips T and Cheeta S. *Alcohol Needs Assessment research Project (ANARP): the 2004 national alcohol needs assessment for England.* London: Department of Health; 2005.
- ¹³⁷ Granville G "Alcohol misuse": in Wilkins D, Payne S, Granville G, and Branney P. *The gender and access to health services study.* London: Department of Health; 2008.
- ¹³⁸ European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, *The State of the Drugs Problem in Europe: Annual Report 2005* cited in Morgan O et al. "Trends in deaths related to drug misuse in England and Wales,1993–2004". 2006: Health Statistics Quarterly no. 31.
- 139 NHS Information Centre. Statistics on drug misuse: England 2008. London: NHS Information Centre; 2008.
- ¹⁴⁰ NHS Information Centre. Statistics on drug misuse: England 2008. London: NHS Information Centre; 2008.
- ¹⁴¹ Office for National Statistics. *Tobacco, alcohol and drug use and mental health.* London: The Stationery Office; 2002.
- 142 Office for National Statistics. "Positive tests among arrestees for selected drugs: by city, 1997" reported in Social Trends 29 at National Statistics Online.
- ¹⁴³ Department of Health. *National Suicide Prevention Strategy for England.* London: Department of Health; 2002.
- ¹⁴⁴ Office for National Statistics news release, January 27th 2009.
- ¹⁴⁵ National Institute for Mental Health in England. *Suicide Prevention Strategy for England: Annual report on progress 2007.* London: Department of Health; 2008.
- ¹⁴⁶ Scientific Reference Group on Health Inequalities. *Tackling Health Inequalities : 10 Years On.* London: Department of Health; 2009.

- ¹⁴⁷ National Institute for Mental Health in England. *Suicide Prevention Strategy for England: Annual report on progress 2007.* London: Department of Health; 2008.
- 148 Sher L. "Alcohol consumption and suicide". 2006: QJM vol. 99 no. 1.
- ¹⁴⁹ National Institute for Mental Health in England. *Suicide Prevention Strategy for England: Annual report on progress 2007.* London: Department of Health; 2008.
- ¹⁵⁰ Fazel S, Benning R and Danesh J, "Suicides in male prisoners in England and Wales 1978 2003" 2005: Lancet vol. 36 no. 9493.
- ¹⁵¹ Griffiths C, LadvaG, Brock A and Baker A. "Trends in suicide by marital status in England and Wales, 1982–2005". 2008: Health Statistics Quarterly no. 37.
- ¹⁵² Gunnell D, Platt S and Hawton K. "The economic crisis and suicide: Consequences may be serious and warrant early attention". 2009: *BMJ* 338.
- ¹⁵³ D, Basu S, Suhrcke M, Coutts A and McKee M. "The public health effect of economic crises and alternative policy responses in Europe: an empirical analysis"
- ¹⁵⁴ Senate Select Committee on Men's Health. *Report of the Senate Select Committee on Men's Health.* Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2009.
- ¹⁵⁵ Mind. Men and mental health: Get it off your chest. London: Mind; 2009.
- ¹⁵⁶ Kilmartin C. "Depression in men: communication, diagnosis and therapy". 2005: *Journal of Men's Health and Gender* vol. 2, no. 1.
- ¹⁵⁷ Winkler D, Edda P and Kasper S, "Gender-specific symtoms of depression and anger attacks". 2006: *Journal of Men's Health and Gender* vol. 3, no. 1.
- ¹⁵⁸ The Samaritans. Young men speak out. London: The Samaritans; 1999.
- 159 Branney P and White A. "Big boys don't cry: depression and men". 2008. Advances in Psychiatric Treatment vol 14.
- ¹⁶⁰ O'Brien R, Hunt K and Hart G. "'It's caveman stuff, but that is to a certain extent how guys still operate': men's accounts of masculinity and help seeking". 2005: Social Science and Medicine no. 61.
- ¹⁶¹ Brownhill S et al cited in Branney P and White A. "Big boys don't cry". 2008: Advances in Psychiatric Treatment vol. 14.
- ¹⁶² Addis M. "Gender and Depression in Men". 2008: Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice vol 15 no. 3.
- ¹⁶³ Emslie C, Ridge R, Ziebland S and Hunt K. "Men's accounts of depression: Reconstructing or resisting hegemonic masculinity?" 2006: *Social Science and Medicine* no. 62.
- ¹⁶⁴ National Institute for Mental Health in England. *Inside Outside: Improving Mental Health Services for Black and Minority Ethnic Communities in England.* London: Department of Health; 2003.
- ¹⁶⁵ Inquiry Panel. *Independent inquiry into the death of David Bennett.* Cambridge: Norfolk, Suffolk and Cambridgeshire Strategic Health Authority; 2003.
- 166 See $\underline{www.mhac.org.uk/census}$ for further information.
- ¹⁶⁷ Healthcare Commission. Count me in: Results of the 2008 national census of inpatients in mental health and learning disability services in England & Wales. London: Commission for Healthcare Audit and Inspection; 2005.
- ¹⁶⁸ Healthcare Commission. *Count me in: Results of the 2008 national census of inpatients in mental health and learning disability services in England & Wales.* London: Commission for Healthcare Audit and Inspection; 2005.
- ¹⁶⁹ Mind, Men's Mental Health. Online factsheet at www.mind.org.uk
- ¹⁷⁰ Blackman P. *Turning the Tide* presentation to NIMHE National Conference 2006.
- ¹⁷¹ Boydell et al, "Incidence of schizophrenia in ethnic minorities in London: ecological study into interactions with environment". 2001: *BMJ* 323
- ¹⁷² Cemlyn S, Greenfields M, Burnett S, Matthews z and Whitwell C. *Inequalities experienced by gypsy and traveller communities: a review.* Manchester: Equality and Human Rights Commission; 2009.
- ¹⁷³ McNamee H. *Out on your own: An examination of the mental health of same-sex attracted young men.* 2006: Belfast; The Rainbow Project.
- ¹⁷⁴ Cochran S and Mays V. "Lifetime Prevalence of Suicide Symptoms and Affective Disorders Among Men Reporting Same-Sex Sexual Partners: Results From NHANES III". 2000: *American Journal of Public Health* vol 90 no. 4.
- ¹⁷⁵ King M et al. "Mental health and quality of life of gay men and lesbians in England and Wales". 2003: *British Journal of Psychiatry* 183.

- ¹⁷⁶ Russell C and Keel P. "Homosexuality as a specific risk factor for eating disorders in men". 2001: *International Journal of Eating Disorders* vol. 31 no. 3.
- ¹⁷⁷ For an explanation of "heterosexism" (as this notion is called) see: Herek G, "Beyond 'Homophobia' Thinking About Sexual Prejudice in the Twenty-First Century". 2004: Sexuality Research and Social Policy.
- ¹⁷⁸ Emslie C, Ridge R, Ziebland S and Hunt K. "Men's accounts of depression: Reconstructing or resisting hegemonic masculinity?" 2006: *Social Science and Medicine* 62.
- ¹⁷⁹ Combat Stress. *Annual Review 2008.* Leatherhead: Combat Stress; 2008.
- ¹⁸⁰ The *Independent*, February 28th 2009.
- ¹⁸¹ The *Independent*, August 10th 2009.
- ¹⁸² Defence Analytical Services and Advice (DASA). *UK Armed Forces psychiatric morbidity: Presenting complaints at MOD Departments of Community Mental Health, January March 2008.* London: Ministry of Defence; 2009.
- ¹⁸³ Dandeker C, Thomas S, Dolan M, Chapman F and Ross J. *Feasibility study on the extent, causes, impact and costs of rough sleeping and homelessness amongst ex-service personnel in a sample of local authorities in England.* London: The King's Centre for Military Health Research; 2005.
- ¹⁸⁴ Dandeker C, Thomas S, Dolan M, Chapman F and Ross J. Feasibility study on the extent, causes, impact and costs of rough sleeping and homelessness amongst ex-service personnel in a sample of local authorities in England. London: The King's Centre for Military Health Research; 2005.
- ¹⁸⁵ Kapur N, While D, Blatchley N, Bray I and Harrison K. "Suicide after Leaving the UK Armed Forces—A Cohort Study". 2009: *PloS Medicine*.
- ¹⁸⁶ Canadian Foster Family Association (CFFA). *The Invisible Boy: Revisioning the Victimization of Male Children & Teens*. Ottawa: Health Canada; 1996.
- ¹⁸⁷ Spataro J, Mullen P, Burgess P, Wells D and Moss S. "Impact of child sexual abuse on mental health: Prospective study in males and females". 2004: *British Journal of Psychiatry* 184.
- ¹⁸⁸ Eating Disorders Association. *Eating disorders and men: The facts.* London: Eating Disorders Association; no publication date given.
- ¹⁸⁹ Copperman J. Eating disorders in the United Kingdom: Review of the provision of health care services for men witn eating disorders. London: Eating Disorders Association; 2000.
- 190 Olivardia R, Pope H and Hudson J. "Muscle Dysmorphia in Male Weightlifters: A Case-Control Study". 2000: American Journal of Psychiatry vol. 157 no. 8.
- ¹⁹¹ Leit R, Gray J and Pope H. "The media's representation of the ideal male body: A cause for muscle dysmorphia". 2001: *International Journal of Eating Disorders* vol. 31 no. 3.
- ¹⁹² Men's Health Forum. *Mind your head: men, boys and mental well-being.* London: Men's Health Forum; 2006.
- ¹⁹³ Mind. Men and mental health: Get it off your chest. London: Mind; 2009.
- ¹⁹⁴ Men's Health Forum. *Men and long term health conditions: a policy briefing paper.* London: Men's Health Forum; 2006.
- 195 www.thecalmzone.net
- ¹⁹⁶ Pillas D and Suhrcke M. Assessing the potential or actual impact on health and health inequalities of policies aiming to improve Early Child Development (ECD) in England (Report of Working Group 6 to the Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England Post 2010). London: University College London; 2009.

About the author

Prior to joining the Men's Health Forum (MHF) in 2002, **David Wilkins** worked in the NHS for 11 years; initially as a community health worker, subsequently as a health promotion specialist and finally, on a joint academic appointment, as a lecturer/practioner. Both in the NHS and for the Men's Health Forum, he has managed projects intended to improve men's health, including important Department of Health funded projects in the fields of sexual health and cancer prevention. He has written and spoken extensively on men's health issues and is responsible for the MHF's on-going series of policy papers on different aspects of men's physical and mental health. In 2008, he edited *The Gender and Access to Health Services Study* for the Department of Health and in 2009, he jointly edited *Men's health around the world: a review of policy and practice in 11 countries* for the European Men's Health Forum.

Untold problems: a review of the essential issues in the mental health of men and boys

Commissioned by



Published by



January 2010

The Men's Health Forum, 32-36 Loman Street, London, SE1 0EH

Tel: 020 7922 7908

Email: office@menshealthforum.org.uk

Web: www.menshealthforum.org.uk

The MHF's mission, vision, values and beliefs statement can be read in full at www.menshealthforum.org.uk

Registered Office as above. A registered charity (No. 1087375). A company limited by guarantee (No. 4142349 – England).

Front cover photographs: Harry Keely, Milan Jurek, Sven Golz, Keenan Milligan, Malik Bhai, Martin Walls, Mark Forman, Hart Creations, KKTan Photography, John Gomez, Wando Studios, istockphoto.com

0 701000 1011110